
 

 

 
VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 

Draft Regular Council Meeting 
Agenda 

Glenwood Community Hall (90 Main Avenue) 
Thursday, April 14, 2022 at 7:00pm 

 
 

Page 1 of 2 

To access the supporting documents to this agenda, first download the agenda to your own 
computer/device, then look for them as attachments to the .pdf agenda document. 

 
 

1. Call to Order 
 

2. Adoption of Agenda 
 

3. Adoption of Previous Minutes: 
a) 2022.03.14 Closed Council Meeting Minutes 
b) 2022.03.14 Regular Council Meeting Minutes 

 
 

4. Delegations: 
a) Ben Goetz – Messy yards 
b) Mel Medley – Messy yards 
c) Deputy Milo Holthe – Utilities 
d) Dave Anderson – (Just a quick review of what the Advisory board function is and then 

present two topics AHS has introduced to Albertans- Expansion of Continuing Care; 
EMS delivery in Alberta as possible topics of interest) 
 
 

5. Items for Discussion and/or Action: 
a) Bylaw # 232 - 2022 - Council Procedure  
b) Bylaw # 263 - 2022 Assessor 
c) Bylaw #165 -2022 Cemetery  
d) Policy for Council Coverage when away 

 
 

6. Councillor Reports: 
• Mayor Allred 
• Deputy Mayor Holthe 
• Councillor Law 
• Councillor Lybbert 
• Councillor Peterson 

 
 

7. CAO Report: 
a) Training / Meetings Attended  
b) Office Closures  
c) Projects 
d) General update on Village  



Page 2 of 2 

8. Financial Reports: 
a) Accounts Payable Cheques for March 2022 (20220066-20220103) 
b) Budget vs Actual Review March 2022 
c) Bank Reconciliation –  

 
 

9. Correspondence: 
a) 2022 Alberta SW Board Minutes 03-02 approved 
b) 2022-04 Bulletin Alberta SW 
c) M & R March 4th minutes 
d) Mayors and Reeves April 2022 
e) CCES MINUTES Apr 7^J 2022 
f) CCES MINUTES Mar 3, 2022 
 
 

10. Closed Meeting: 
a) Land, Legal or Labour Matters As per Section 24(b)(i) of the FOIP Act     

 
 

11. Adjournment: 
 

 
 





VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 
March 14, 2022 Minutes 


 
The DRAFT Closed Village of Glenwood Council meeting was held at the 
Glenwood Community Hall (90 Main Avenue) on March 14, 2022 scheduled 
at 6 PM. 
 
In attendance: Mayor Linda Allred, Deputy Mayor Milo Holthe, Councillor Sandy 
Lybbert and Councillor Mark Peterson. Councillors Steven Law via Zoom. 
 
Officials: Chief Administrative Officer Carrie Kinahan. 


 
 


 


 
Village Of Glenwood Council Meeting Minutes March 14, 2022 Initials: Page 1 of 1 


 


 
1. Called to Order 
 
 
2022.03.066 
 
 
Adjournment 
2022.03.067 
 


Mayor Allred called the March 14, 2022 CLOSED Council Meeting to 
order at 6:16 PM 
 
Mayor Allred MOVED to close the meeting to the public at 6:17 PM.   
“Land, Legal or Labour Matters as per Section 24(b)(i) of the FOIP Act.” 


Carried 
 
 
Deputy Mayor Holthe MOVED to adjourn the meeting at 7:03PM. 


Carried 
 
 


_____________________________________________ 
Meeting Chair 


 
_____________________________________________ 


Chief Administrative Officer 
  
  


 








VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 
March 14, 2022 Minutes 


 
The DRAFT Regular Village of Glenwood Council meeting was held at the 
Glenwood Community Hall on March 14, 2022 scheduled at 7:00 PM. 
 
In attendance: Mayor Linda Allred, Deputy Mayor Milo Holthe, Councillor Sandy 
Lybbert and Councillor Mark Peterson. Councillors Steven Law attended via zoom. 
 
Officials: Chief Administrative Officer Carrie Kinahan was in attendance.  


 
 


 


 
Village Of Glenwood Council Meeting Minutes March 14, 2022 Initials: Page 1 of 3 


 


 
1. Called to Order 
 
 
2. Agenda Adoption 
2022.03.068 
 
 
3. Minutes Adoption 
3 a) 2022.02.10 
3 b) 2022.02.16 
3 c) 2022.02.22 
3 d) 2022.02.24 
3 e) 2022.02.28 
2022.03.069 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4. Delegations: 
4 a) R.M.C.P. Sergeant 
Wright - Annual Report 
 
4 b & c) Tough Country- 
Paul  
 
4 d) Meet the Fire 
Chiefs. Dennis & Clinton 
Lybbert 
 
5.Items for Discussion 
and or Action: 
5 a) Pioneer Parlour –  
 
5 b) Multi Sport 
Recreational Facility 
 
5.c) Fortis 3 phase 
power back of Main 
Ave.  
 
5.d) Letter of intent by 
Suzzanne French to join 
the library board 
2022.03.070 
 
 
5.e) Requestion for the 
Fire Department. 
 


Mayor Allred called the March 14, 2022 Regular Council Meeting to 
order at 7:04 PM 
 
 
Councillor Lybbert MOVED to adopt the agenda as amended. Adding 
4 d) Fire Chiefs, 5h) Cardston water  


Carried 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Councillor Lybbert MOVED to adopt the minutes as presented of the: 
 
3 a) 2022.02.10 Draft Regular Council Meeting as presented. 
3 b) 2022.02.16 Draft Special Council Meeting as presented. 
3 c) 2022.02.22 Draft Special Council Meeting as presented. 
3 d) 2022.02.24 Draft Closed Council Meeting as presented. 
3 e) 2022.02.28 Draft Zoom Council Meeting as presented. 


Carried 
 
 
No Resolution. 
 
300 customers in area – Looking at Fiber to and through Village 
No Resolution. 
 
 
15 Members 
No Resolution. 
 
 
 
Deputy Mayor Holthe discussed opening it up to the public to be 
leased. Rather than run by the Village. 
 
Deputy Mayor Holthe, gave an update on the Grants and in-kind 
volunteers. 
 
 
No Resolution. 
 
 
 
 
Mayor Allred MOVED to approve Suzzanne French to be added to the 
Library Board. 


Carried 
 
Councillor Lybbert discussed the requestion. 
 







Village Of Glenwood Council Meeting Minutes March 14, 2022 Initials: Page 2 of 3 
 


5.f) Policy for 
Councillors to cover 
committee 
appointments well 
away. 
 
5.g) Draft Cemetery 
Bylaw #165-2022 
 
5.h) Cardston Water 
Proposal 
 
2022.03.071 
 
 
6. & 7. Council & CAO 
Reports 
Mayor Allred 
 
Deputy Mayor Holthe 
 
Councillor Law 
 
 
Councillor Lybbert 
 
 
 
Councillor Peterson 
 
CAO Report 
 
2022.03.072 
 
 
 
8. Financial Reports 
8 a) Accounts Payable 
Report  
8 b) Budget VS Actual 
Operating & Capital 
Reports  
8 c) Bank 
Reconciliations  
2022.03.073 
 
 
 
9. Correspondence 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2022.03.074 
 
 
 


 
 
 
 
Councillor Lybbert discussed drawing up a policy. 
 
 
Councillor Lybbert Tabled until the April Meeting. 
 
 
No Resolution. 
 
Deputy Mayor Holthe MOVED to accept 5 a, b, c, e, f, g & h) as 
information 


Carried 
 
 


• Library & Family & Community Support Services (FCSS),  
 


• Recreation board, Electric EV Charge Station. 
 


• Chief Mountains Regional Solid Waste Authority (CMRSWA), 
Emergency and Fire. 


 
• Chinook Foundation Seniors, Cemetery, Conference.  


 
Deputy Mayor Holthe MOVED to go past 9:30PM 
 


• None 
 


• CAO Report presented as outlined in the agenda. 
 
Councillor Peterson MOVED to accept the Councillor & CAO reports 
as information. 


Carried 
 
 
  
  a) Accounts Payable Report for January (20220015 -20220065).  
  b) Budget VS Actual Operating & Capital Expense.  
  c) Bank reconciliations - None.  
 
 
Councillor Lybbert MOVED to accept the Financial Reports as 
information. 


Carried 
 
 


a. 2022-01-13 ORRSC Executive Committee Meeting 
Minutes  


b. 2022-03 Bulletin2 Alberta SW  
c. 2022-03-02 – MP Martin Shields Report to SW Mayors 


and Reeves  
d. AB Municipal Affairs Budget 2022    
e. cmrswa MINUTES 02-22     
f. M&R February 4th minutes   
g. Mayors and Reeves March 2022 (1)   
h. NPF to Village of Glenwood re GoA Consultations 


 
Deputy Mayor Holthe MOVED to accept the correspondence as 
information. 


Carried 







Village Of Glenwood Council Meeting Minutes March 14, 2022 Initials: Page 3 of 3 
 


10. Closed Meeting 
2022.03.075 
 
 
 
 
2022.03.076 
 
 
 
2022.03.077 
 
 
2022.03.078 
 
 
 
 
2022.03.079 
 
 
 
2022.03.080 
 
 
Adjournment 
2022.03.081 
 


 
Councillor Lybbert MOVED to close the meeting to the public at 9:51 
PM to discuss Land, Legal or Labour Matters as per Section 24(b)(i) of 
the FOIP Act. 


Carried 
 


Deputy Mayor Holthe MOVED to come out closed session at 10:15 
PM. 


Carried 
 


The Regular Council Meeting resumed at 10:17 PM allowing for the 
public to rejoin the meeting. 
 
Councillor Lybbert MOVED to assign new cemetery plots to the 
families that records were lost. 


Carried 
 
 
Councillor Lybbert MOVED to send a letter to Residents that drive off 
the main drive and into cemetery plot areas. 


Defeated 
 
Councillor Lybbert MOVED to have the Cemetery & GIS updated on 
the Web by May 


Carried 
 
Councillor Lybbert MOVED to adjourn the meeting at 10:25 PM. 


Carried 
 
 
 


_____________________________________________ 
Meeting Chair 


 
 


_____________________________________________ 
Chief Administrative Officer 


  
 













 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 232-2022 Page 1 of 19 


 


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 
BYLAW # 232-2022 


 
Proposed Council Procedure Bylaw 


 
BEING A BYLAW OF THE VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD, IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA, TO REGULATE 
THE PROCEEDINGS AND CONDUCT OF COUNCIL MEETINGS IN THE VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD. 
 
WHEREAS, the Municipal Government Act, being Chapter M-26, R.S.A. 2000 and amendments 
thereto, provides that a Council may pass bylaws in relation to the procedure and conduct of 
Council, and may regulate the conduct of Councillors; 
 
AND WHEREAS Council has deemed it necessary to regulate the procedure and conduct at 
meetings of Council; 
 
AND WHEREAS Council has deemed it necessary to regulate procedures for receiving and 
responding to communications and submissions to Council; 
 
NOW THEREFORE under the authority of the Municipal Government Act, the Council of the 
Village of Glenwood, in the Province of Alberta, enacts as follows: 
 
 


TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 Page 
  
PART A – INTRODUCTION  
 Title and Definitions…………………………………………………………………………………………. 3 
 Application of Rules of Procedure………………………………………………………............... 3 
  
PART B – COUNCIL MEETINGS  
 Inaugural Meeting……………………………………………………………………………………………. 4 
 Time and Location of Meetings………………………………………………………………………… 4 
 Notice of Council Meetings………………………………………………………………………………. 4 
 Notice of Special Meetings………………………………………………………………………………. 5 
   
PART C – DESIGNATION OF MEMBER TO ACT IN PLACE OF MAYOR  
 Deputy Mayor………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 5 
   
PART D – COUNCIL PROCEEDINGS  
 Municipal Government Act (MGA) Provisions…………………………………………………… 5 
 Attendance of Public at Meetings……….……………………………………………………………. 6 
 Minutes of Meetings to be Maintained and Available to Public……………………….. 6 
 Calling Meeting to Order………………………………………………………………………………….. 6 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 232-2022 Page 2 of 19 


 


 Adjourning Meeting Where No Quorum………………………………………………………….. 7 
 Agenda…………………………………………………………………………………………………….......... 7 
 Order of Proceedings and Business………………………………………………………............. 7 
 Late Items………………………………………………………………………………………………………... 8 
 Voting at Meetings…………………………………………………………………………………………… 8 
 Delegations……………………………………………………………………………………………............ 8 
 Points of Order…………………………………………………………………………………………………. 9 
 Conduct and Debate……………………………………………………………………………………...... 9 
 Motions Generally……………………………………………………………………………………......... 11 
 Motion to Table the Discussion………………………………………………………………………… 11 
 Motion for the Main Question…………………………………………………………………………. 11 
 Procedure to Table an Item……………………………………………………………………………… 12 
 Amendments Generally……………………………………………………………………………………. 12 
 Reconsideration by Council Member……………………………………………………….......... 12 
 Privilege……………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 13 
 Reports From Committees……………………………………………………………………………….. 13 
 Adjournment……………………………………………………………………………………………………. 13 
   
PART E – BYLAWS  
 Copies of Proposed Bylaws to Council Members………………………………………………. 14 
 Form of Bylaws………………………………………………………………………………………………… 14 
 Bylaws to be Considered Separately or Jointly…………………………………………………. 14 
 Reading and Adopting Bylaws…………………………………………………………………………… 14 
 Bylaws Must be Signed…………………………………………………………………………………….. 15 
   
PART F – RESOLUTIONS  
 Copies of Motions to Council Members……………………………………………………………. 15 
   
PART G – COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (COTW)  
 Going Into COTW……………………………………………………………………………………………… 15 
 Notice for COTW Meetings………………………………………………………………………………. 15 
 Minutes of COTW Meetings to be Maintained and Available to Public…………….. 16 
 Presiding Members at COTW Meetings and Quorum……………………………………….. 16 
 Points of Order at Meetings……………………………………………………………………………… 16 
 Conduct and Debate………………………………………………………………………………………… 16 
   
PART H – COMMITTEES  
 Duties of Standing Committees………………………………………………………………………… 16 
 Duties of Select Committees…………………………………………………………………………….. 17 
 Schedule of Committee Meetings…………………………………………………………………….. 17 
 Notice of Committee Meetings………………………………………………………………………… 17 
 Attendance at Committee Meetings………………………………………………………………… 17 
 Minutes of Committee Meetings to be Maintained and Available to Public….…. 17 
 Quorum……………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 18 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 232-2022 Page 3 of 19 


 


 Conduct and Debate………………………………………………………………………………………… 18 
 Voting at Meetings…………………………………………………………………………………………… 18 
   
PART I – GENERAL  
 General…………………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 18 
 Rescinding Bylaw……………………………………………………………………………………………… 19 
 Date of Commencement………………………………………………………………………………….. 19 


 
 


PART A – INTRODUCTION 
 
1. TITLE AND DEFINITIONS: 


 
1.1 Title – This bylaw may be cited as the “Council Procedure Bylaw”. 


 
1.2 Definitions– In this bylaw unless the context otherwise requires: 


(a) "Committee" means a standing, select, or other Committee of Council; 
(b) "CAO" means the Chief Administrative Officer for the Village; 
(c) “COTW” mean Committee of the Whole; 
(d) “Council” means the Council of the Village of Glenwood; 
(e) "Mayor" means the Mayor of the Village; 
(f) “MGA” means the Municipal Government Act, being Chapter M-26, R.S.A. 


2000 and amendments thereto; 
(g) "Public Notice Posting Places" means the front door of the Village Office, the 


Glenwood Post Office, Kiosk on Main Avenue, Van Dans Grocery Store, and 
other business along Main Avenue. 


(h) “Village” means the Village of Glenwood; 
(i) “Village Office” means the Village Offices located at 59 Main Avenue North 


East, Glenwood, Alberta; 
(j) “Village Web Site” means the official website that is operated and maintained 


by the Village of Glenwood. 
 
2. APPLICATION OF RULES OF PROCEDURE: 


 
2.1 The provisions of this bylaw govern the proceedings of Council and all standing and 


select Committees of Council, as applicable. 
2.2 In cases not provided for under this bylaw, The New Robert’s Rules of Order, 2nd 


edition,1998, apply to the proceedings of Council and Council (Committees to the 
extent that those Rules are: 
(a) Applicable in the circumstances, and 
(b) Not inconsistent with provisions of this bylaw. 


  







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 232-2022 Page 4 of 19 


 


PART B – COUNCIL MEETINGS 
 
3. INAUGURAL MEETING: 
 


3.1 The CAO shall attend all meetings of Council, and record the proceedings of the 
meetings in the minutes, in the English language, without note or comment. 


3.2 If a quorum of Council members elected at the general local election has not taken 
office by the date of the meeting referred to in section 3.1, the first Council meeting 
must be called by the CAO and held as soon as reasonably possible after a quorum 
has taken office. 


 
 
4. TIME AND LOCATION OF MEETINGS: 
 


4.1 All Council meetings will take place at the Village Community Hall except when 
Council resolves to hold meetings elsewhere. 


4.2 Regular Council meetings must: 
(a) Be held on the second Thursday of each month, and 
(b) Begin at 7:00pm; 
(c) When such meeting falls on a statutory holiday, council shall do a resolution 


at the Orientation meeting to set the alternate date. 
4.3 Regular Council meetings may: 


(a) Be cancelled by Council, provided that two consecutive meetings are not 
cancelled; and 


 
5. NOTICE OF COUNCIL MEETINGS: 
 


5.1 Council may decide at a Council meeting at which all the councillors are present to 
hold regularly scheduled Council meetings on specified dates, times and places. 


5.2 Notice of regularly scheduled meetings need not be given. 
5.3 If Council changes the date, time or place of a regularly scheduled meeting, Council 


must give at least 24 hours' notice of the change to any councillors not present at 
the meeting at which the change was made, and to the public. 


  







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 232-2022 Page 5 of 19 


 


6. NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETINGS: 
 


6.1 The chief elected official may call a special Council meeting whenever the official 
considers it appropriate to do so, and must call a special Council meeting if the 
official receives a written request for the meeting, stating its purpose, from a 
majority of the councillors. 


6.2 A special Council meeting called under subsection 194(1)(b) of the MGA must be 
held within 14 days after the date that the chief elected official receives the request 
or any shorter period provided for by bylaw. 


6.3 The chief elected official calls a special Council meeting by giving at least 24 hours' 
notice in writing to each councillor and the public stating the purpose of the 
meeting and the date, time and place at which it is to be held. 


6.4 A special Council meeting may be held with less than 24 hours' notice to all 
councillors and without notice to the public if at least 2/3 of the whole Council 
agrees to this in writing before the beginning of the meeting. 


6.5 No matter other than that stated in the notice calling the special Council meeting 
may be transacted at the meeting unless the whole Council is present at the 
meeting and the Council agrees unanimously to deal with the matter in question. 


 
 


PART C – DESIGNATION OF MEMBER TO ACT IN PLACE OF MAYOR 
 
7. DEPUTY MAYOR: 
 


7.1 As per section 152 of the MGA a Council must appoint one or more councillors as 
deputy chief elected official so that only one councillor will hold that office at any 
one time, and the office will be filled at all times. 


7.2 A deputy chief elected official must act as the chief elected official when the chief 
elected official is unable to perform the duties of the chief elected official, or if the 
office of chief elected official is vacant. 


7.3 A Council may appoint a councillor as an acting chief elected official to act as the 
chief elected official if both the chief elected official and the deputy chief elected 
official are unable to perform the duties of the chief elected official or if both the 
office of chief elected official and the office of deputy chief elected official are 
vacant. 


 
 


PART D – COUNCIL PROCEEDINGS 
 
8. MUNICIPAL GOVERNMENT ACT (MGA) PROVISIONS: 
 


8.1 Matters pertaining to Council proceedings are governed by the MGA. 
 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 232-2022 Page 6 of 19 


 


9. ATTENDANCE OF PUBLIC AT MEETINGS: 
 


9.1 Except where the provisions of section 197 of the MGA apply, all Council meetings 
must be open to the public. 


9.2 Before closing a Council meeting or part of a Council meeting to the public, Council 
must pass a resolution in a public meeting. 


9.3 When a meeting is closed to the public, no resolution or bylaw may be passed at the 
meeting, except a resolution to revert to a meeting held in public. 


 
 
10. MINUTES OF MEETINGS TO BE MAINTAINED AND AVAILABLE TO PUBLIC: 
 


10.1 Minutes of the proceedings of Council must be: 
(a) Legibly recorded in the English language, without note or comment. 
(b) Signed by the CAO. 
(c) Signed by the Mayor or other member presiding at the meeting or at the next 


meeting at which the minutes are adopted. 
10.2 Minutes of the proceedings of Council must be open for public inspection at the 


Village Office during its regular office hours. 
10.3 Copies of the minutes of Council meetings shall be given to Village of Glenwood 


residents without charge in an unapproved form before they have been approved 
by Council at the meeting following the one, they record. 


10.4 Copies of approved minutes of the most recent Council meeting shall be given to 
Village of Glenwood residents without charge.  Copies of approved minutes of 
Council meetings prior to the most recent meeting shall be provided to Village of 
Glenwood residents for the cost of printing which shall be set from time to time by 
the Administrator.  Approved minutes shall also be available on the Village Website. 


 
 
11. CALLING MEETING TO ORDER: 
 


11.1 As soon after the time specified for a Council meeting as there is a quorum present, 
the Mayor, if present, must take the Chair and call the Council meeting to order, 
however, where the Mayor is absent, the Councillor designated as the member 
responsible for acting in the place of the Mayor in accordance with section 7 must 
take the Chair and call such meeting to order. 


11.2 If a quorum of Council is present but the Mayor or the Councillor designated as the 
member responsible for acting in the place of the Mayor under section 7 do not 
attend within 15 minutes of the scheduled time for a Council meeting: 
(a) The CAO must call to order the members present, and 
(b) The members present must choose a member to preside at the meeting. 


 
 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 232-2022 Page 7 of 19 


 


12. ADJOURNING MEETING WHERE NO QUORUM: 
 


12.1 If there is no quorum of Council present within 15 minutes of the scheduled time for 
a Council meeting, the CAO must: 
(a) Record the names of the members present, and those absent, and 
(b) Adjourn the meeting until the next scheduled meeting. 


 
 
13. AGENDA: 
 


13.1 Prior to each Council meeting, the CAO must prepare an Agenda setting out all the 
items for consideration at that meeting, noting in short form a summary for each 
item on the agenda. 


13.2 The deadline for submissions by the public to the CAO of items for inclusion on the 
Council meeting Agenda must be 12:00 noon on the day 48 hours prior to the 
meeting. 


13.3 The CAO must make the Agenda and Council packets available to the members of 
Council 48 hours prior to the regularly scheduled council meeting. 


13.4 The CAO must post the notice of the upcoming meeting, including the agenda to the 
Public Notice Posting Places. 


13.5 Council must not consider any matters not listed on the Agenda unless a new 
matter for consideration is properly introduced as a late item to the Agenda during 
the acceptance of the Agenda. 


 
 
14. ORDER OF PROCEEDINGS AND BUSINESS: 
 


14.1 The agenda for all regular Council meetings contains the following matters listed 
below: 
(a) Call Council Meeting to Order 
(b) Approval of Agenda 
(c) Delegations 
(d) Adoption of Minutes 
(e) Financial Reports 
(f) Items for Discussion 
(g) Council Reports 
(h) CAO Report 
(i) Gallery comments –A 5 MINUTE Time Limit 
(j) In-Camera (Closed) session, if required; 
(k) Adjournment. 


14.2 Particular business at a Council meeting is encouraged to be taken up in the order in 
which it is listed on the agenda unless otherwise resolved by Council. 


  







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 232-2022 Page 8 of 19 


 


15. LATE ITEMS: 
 


15.1 An item of business not included on the Agenda must not be considered at a Council 
meeting unless introduction of the late item is approved by Council at the time 
allocated on the Agenda for such matters. 


15.2 If the Council makes a resolution under section 15.1, information pertaining to late 
items may be distributed to the members. 


 
 
16. VOTING AT MEETINGS: 
 


16.1 The following procedures apply to voting at Council meetings: 
(a) When debate on a matter is closed the presiding member must put the 


matter to a vote of Council members; 
(b) When the Council is ready to vote, the presiding member must put the matter 


to a vote by stating:  "Those in favour?" and then "Those opposed?" 
(c) When the presiding member is putting the matter to a vote under sections 


16.1(a) and (b) a member must not: 
(i) Cross or leave the room, 
(ii) Make a noise or other disturbance, or 
(iii) Interrupt the voting procedure under section (b) unless the interrupting 


member is raising a point of order; 
(d) After the presiding member finally puts the question to a vote under section 


16.1(b), a member must not speak to the question or make a motion 
concerning it; 


(e) The presiding member's decision about whether a question has been finally 
put is conclusive; and 


(f) Whenever a vote of Council on a matter is taken, each member present shall 
signify their vote by raising their hand; and 


(g) The presiding member must declare the result of the voting by stating that the 
question is decided by either "carried" or "defeated"; 


 
 
17. DELEGATIONS: 
 


17.1 The Council may allow an individual or a delegation to address Council at the 
meeting on the subject of an Agenda item provided written application has been 
received by the CAO by 12:00 noon on the day 48 hours prior to the meeting.  Each 
address must be limited to 10 minutes unless a longer period is agreed to by 
unanimous vote of those Council members present at the meeting. 


17.2 If any individual or delegation attends a Council meeting at the invitation of Council, 
a period of longer than 10 minutes for the presentation may be agreed upon at the 
time of the invitation. 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 232-2022 Page 9 of 19 


 


17.3 Where written application has not been received by the CAO as prescribed in 
section 17.1, an individual or delegation may address the meeting if approved by 
the unanimous vote of the Council members present at the meeting. 


17.4 Council must not permit a delegation to address a meeting of the Council regarding 
a bylaw in respect of which a public hearing has been held, where the public hearing 
is required under an enactment as a pre-requisite to the adoption of the bylaw. 


17.5 The CAO may schedule delegations for another Council meeting or advisory body as 
deemed appropriate according to the subject matter of the delegation. 


17.6 Grounds for refusal: 
(a) The CAO may refuse to place a delegation on the agenda if the issue is not 


considered to fall within the jurisdiction of Council. 
(b) The delegation appeared before Council at the last Council meeting regarding 


the same subject matter, and was not specifically requested by Council to 
appear again. 


(c) The delegation appeared before Council at a previous Council meeting 
regarding the same subject matter, and does not have significant new 
information to offer Council. 


(d) The delegation does not provide at the time of its application to appear 
before Council, a detailed written outline of its subject matter and its request. 


(e) Any other grounds that the CAO may consider sufficient. 
 
If the delegation wishes to appeal the CAO's decision, the delegation's application information 
must be distributed under separate cover to Council for their consideration.  Council must 
consider the delegation's application at the next Council meeting, and either approve the CAO's 
decision or decide to accept a presentation from the delegation at a subsequent Council 
meeting.  The CAO shall advise the delegation in writing, advising the delegation of Council's 
decision, and if necessary arranging for the delegation to appear at a future Council meeting. 
 
 
18. POINTS OF ORDER: 
 


18.1 Without limiting the Chief Elected Official's duty under section 154(1) of the MGA, 
the presiding member must conduct the meeting following Roberts Rules of Order. 


 
 
19. CONDUCT AND DEBATE: 
 


19.1 A Council member may speak to a question or motion at a Council meeting only if 
that member first addresses the presiding member. 


19.2 Members may address the presiding member by that person's title of Mayor, Acting 
Mayor, Deputy Mayor, Councillor or Chairman or Madam Chair. 


19.3 Members may address other non-presiding members by the title Councillor. 
19.4 No member must interrupt a member who is speaking except to raise a point of 


order. 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 232-2022 Page 10 of 19 


 


19.5 If more than one member speaks the presiding member must call on the member 
who, in the presiding member's opinion, first requested the floor. 


19.6 Members who are called to order by the presiding member: 
(a) Must immediately stop speaking; 
(b) May explain their position on the point of order; and 
(c) May appeal to Council for its decision on the point of order in accordance with 


section 18.1 (Roberts Rules of Order). 
19.7 Members speaking at a Council meeting: 


(a) Must use respectful language, 
(b) Must not use offensive gestures or signs, or facial expressions, 
(c) Must speak only in connection with the matter being debated, 
(d) May speak about a vote of Council only for the purpose of making a motion 


that the vote be rescinded, and 
(e) Must adhere to the rules of procedure established under this bylaw and to the 


decisions of the presiding member and Council in connection with the rules 
and points of order. 


19.8 A member may require the question being debated at a Council meeting to be read 
at any time during the debate if that does not interrupt another member who is 
speaking. 


19.9 The following rules apply to limit speech on matters being considered at a Council 
meeting: 
(a) A member may speak more than once in connection with the same question 


only: 
(i) With the permission of Council or the chairperson of the meeting; 
(ii) If the member is explaining a material part of a previous speech without 


introducing a new matter. 
(b) A member who has made a substantive motion to the Council may reply to 


the debate. 
(c) A member may speak to a question, or may speak in reply, for longer than a 


total time of 5 minutes only with the permission of Council. 
  







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 232-2022 Page 11 of 19 


 


20. MOTIONS GENERALLY: 
 


20.1 Council may debate and vote on a motion only if it is first made by one Council 
member. 


20.2 A motion that deals with a matter that is not on the agenda of the Council meeting 
at which the motion is introduced may be introduced with Council's permission. 


20.3 A Council member may make only the following motions, when the Council is 
considering a question: 
(a) To amend; 
(b) To table the discussion; 
(c) To postpone indefinitely; 
(d) To postpone to a certain time; 
(e) To move the previous question; 
(f) To adjourn. 
(g) To accept the motion as read. 


20.4 A motion made under subsections 20.3(c) to (g) is not amendable or debatable. 
20.5 Council must vote separately on each distinct part of a question that is under 


consideration at a Council meeting if requested by a Council member. 
 
 
21. MOTION TO TABLE THE DISCUSSION: 
 


21.1 A motion may be tabled to enable Council to deal with other more pressing matters.  
A motion that has been tabled may be brought back at any time by a majority vote 
and when brought back, it will take precedence over other new motions. 


 
 
22. MOTION FOR THE MAIN QUESTION: 
 


22.1 In this section, "main question", in relation to a matter, means the motion that first 
brings the matter before the Council. 


22.2 At a Council meeting, the following rules apply to a motion for the main question, or 
for the main question as amended: 
(a) If a member of Council moves to put the main question, or the main question 


as amended, to a vote, that motion must be dealt with before any other 
amendments are made to the motion on the main question; and 


(b) If the motion for the main question, or for the main question as amended, is 
decided in the negative, the Council may proceed to other business. 


  







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 232-2022 Page 12 of 19 


 


23. PROCEDURE TO TABLE AN ITEM: 
 


23.1 If an item has been brought to Council for discussion and Council wishes to "table" 
discussion until a later Council meeting, a member of Council shall 
(a) Request that the item be tabled until a specific date or until a date in the 


future. 
(b) If the majority of Council is in agreement, then the item shall be tabled and 


will be discussed at a later date. 
(c) If the majority of Council is not in favour of tabling the discussion, the item 


will not be tabled until such time as a consensus is reached. 
 
 
24. AMENDMENTS GENERALLY: 
 


24.1 A Council member may, without notice, move to amend a motion that is being 
considered at a Council meeting. 


24.2 An amendment may propose removing, substituting for, or adding to the words of 
an original motion. 


24.3 A proposed amendment must be reproduced in writing by the mover if requested 
by the presiding member. 


24.4 A proposed amendment must be decided or withdrawn before the motion being 
considered is put to a vote. 


24.5 An amendment may be amended once only. 
24.6 An amendment that has been negated by a vote of Council cannot be proposed 


again. 
24.7 A Council member may propose an amendment to an adopted amendment. 
24.8 The presiding member must put the main question and its amendments in the 


following order for the vote of Council: 
(a) A motion to amend a motion amending the main question; 
(b) A motion to amend the main question, or an amended motion amending the 


main question if the vote under subparagraph 24.8(a) is positive; 
(c) The main question. 


 
 
25. RECONSIDERATION BY COUNCIL MEMBER: 
 


25.1 Subject to 25.5, a Council member may, at the next Council meeting, 
(a) Move to reconsider a matter on which a vote, other than to postpone 


indefinitely, has been taken, and 
(b) Move to reconsider an adopted bylaw after an interval of at least 24 hours 


following its adoption. 
25.2 A Council member who voted affirmatively for a resolution adopted by Council may 


at any time move to rescind that resolution. 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 232-2022 Page 13 of 19 


 


25.3 A Council member who voted against a motion which was defeated by Council, may 
at any time move to re-introduce that motion. 


25.4 Council must not discuss the main matter referred to in section 25.1 unless a 
motion to reconsider that matter is adopted in the affirmative. 


25.5 A vote to reconsider must not be reconsidered. 
25.6 Council may only reconsider a matter that has not: 


(a) Had the approval or assent of the electors and been adopted, 
(b) Been acted on by an officer, employee, or agent of the Village. 


25.7 The conditions that applied to the adoption of the original bylaw, resolution, or 
proceeding apply to its rejection under this section. 


 
 
26. PRIVILEGE: 
 


26.1 In this section, a matter of privilege refers to any of the following motions: 
(a) Fix the time to adjourn; 
(b) Adjourn; 
(c) Recess; 
(d) Raise a question of privilege of the Council; 
(e) Raise a question of privilege of a member of Council. 


26.2 A matter of privilege must be immediately considered when it arises at a Council 
meeting. 


26.3 For the purposes of section 26.2, a matter of privilege listed in section 26.1 has 
precedence over those matters listed after it. 


 
 
27. REPORTS FROM COMMITTEES: 
 


27.1 Council may take any of the following actions in connection with a recommendation 
it receives from the Committee of the Whole (COTW): 
(a) Agree or disagree with the recommendation; 
(b) Amend the recommendation; 
(c) Refer the recommendation back to COTW; 
(d) Postpone its consideration of the recommendation. 


 
 
28. ADJOURNMENT: 
 


28.1 A Council may continue a Council meeting after 9:30pm only by an affirmative vote 
of the majority of Council members present. 


28.2 A motion to adjourn either a Council meeting or the debate at a Council meeting is 
always in order if that motion has not been preceded at that meeting by the same 
motion. 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 232-2022 Page 14 of 19 


 


28.3 Section 28.2 does not apply to either of the following motions: 
(a) A motion to adjourn to a specific day; 
(b) A motion that adds an opinion or qualification to a preceding motion to 


adjourn. 
 
 


PART E – BYLAWS 
 
29. COPIES OF PROPOSED BYLAWS TO COUNCIL MEMBERS: 
 


29.1 A proposed bylaw may be introduced at a Council meeting only if a copy of it has 
been made available to each Council member at least 24 hours before the Council 
meeting. 


 
 
30. FORM OF BYLAWS: 
 


30.1 A bylaw introduced at a Council meeting must: 
(a) Be printed; 
(b) Have a distinguishing name; 
(c) Have a distinguishing number; 
(d) Contain an introductory statement of purpose; 
(e) Be divided into sections; 


 
 
31. BYLAWS TO BE CONSIDERED SEPARATELY OR JOINTLY: 
 


31.1 Council must consider a proposed bylaw at a Council meeting either: 
(a) Separately when directed by the presiding member or requested by another 


Council member, or 
(b) Jointly with other proposed bylaws in the sequence determined by the 


presiding member. 
 
 
32. READING AND ADOPTING BYLAWS: 
 


32.1 The presiding member of a Council meeting may read the first reading of a 
proposed bylaw in part, or in its entirety. 


32.2 The second and third readings of the bylaw may be given by stating its title or 
identifying number. 


32.3 A proposed bylaw may be debated and amended at any time during the first three 
readings unless prohibited by the MGA. 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 232-2022 Page 15 of 19 


 


32.4 Subject to section 187 of the MGA, each reading of a proposed bylaw must receive 
the affirmative vote of a majority of the Council members present. 


32.5 In accordance with section 187(4) of the MGA, a proposed bylaw must not have 
more than 2 readings at a Council meeting unless the councillors present 
unanimously agree to consider third reading. 


 
 
33. BYLAWS MUST BE SIGNED: 
 


33.1 After a bylaw is adopted, and signed by the CAO and the presiding member of the 
Council meeting at which it was adopted, the CAO must have it placed in the 
Village's records for safekeeping and endorse upon it: 
(a) The Village's corporate seal and 
(b) The dates of its readings and adoption. 


 
 


PART F – RESOLUTIONS 
 
34. COPIES OF MOTIONS TO COUNCIL MEMBERS: 
 


34.1 A motion may be introduced at a Council meeting at any time. 
34.2 If a member of Council wishes time to study or consider a motion that member 


may, before the main question is called, make a motion to table the motion which is 
subject of the main question. 


 
 


PART G – COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (COTW) 
 
35. GOING INTO COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE: 
 


35.1 At any time during a Council meeting, Council may by resolution call for a COTW 
meeting.  The meeting may be at a later date. 


35.2 In addition to section 35.1, a meeting, other than a standing or select Committee 
meeting, to which all members of Council are invited but not to decide on matters 
of the Village's business, is a meeting of the COTW. 


35.3 At the advice of the CAO or any other Council member a COTW meeting may be 
scheduled. 


 
 
36. NOTICE FOR COTW MEETINGS: 
 


36.1 Subject to section 36.2 a notice of the day, hour and place of a COTW meeting must 
be given at least 24 hours before the time of the meeting by: 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 232-2022 Page 16 of 19 


 


(a) Posting a copy of the notice at the Public Notice Posting Places; and 
(b) Notifying each Council member by telephone or text message. 


36.2 Section 36.1 does not apply to a COTW meeting that is called, in accordance with 
section 35, during a Council meeting for which public notice has been given under 
section 5 or 6. 


 
 
37. MINUTES OF COTW MEETINGS TO BE MAINTAINED AND AVAILABLE TO PUBLIC: 
 


37.1 Minutes of the proceedings of COTW must be: 
(a) Legibly recorded in the English language in point form, 
(b) Signed by the CAO and by the member presiding at the meeting, and 
(c) Open for public inspection at the Village Office. 


 
 
38. PRESIDING MEMBERS AT COTW MEETINGS AND QUORUM: 
 


38.1 Any Council member may preside in COTW. 
38.2 The members of Council attending a meeting of COTW must appoint a presiding 


member for the COTW meeting. 
38.3 The quorum of COTW is the majority of Council members. 


 
 
39. POINTS OF ORDER AT MEETINGS: 
 


39.1 The presiding member must preserve order at a COTW meeting and, subject to an 
appeal to other members present, decide points of order that may arise. 


 
 
40. CONDUCT AND DEBATE: 
 


40.1 The following rules apply to COTW meetings: 
(a) There will be no motions at a COTW meeting; 


 
 


PART H – COMMITTEES 
 
41. DUTIES OF STANDING COMMITTEES: 
 


41.1 Standing Committees must consider, inquire into report, and make 
recommendations to Council about all of the following matters: 
(a) Matters that are related to the general subject indicated by the name of the 


Committee; 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 232-2022 Page 17 of 19 


 


(b) Matters that are assigned by Council; 
(c) Matters that are assigned by the Mayor. 


41.2 Standing Committees must report and make recommendations to Council at all of 
the following times: 
(a) In accordance with the schedule of the Committee`s meetings; 
(b) On matters that are assigned by Council or the Mayor: 


(i) As required by Council or the Mayor or 
(ii) At the next Council meeting if the Council or Mayor does not specify a 


time. 
 
 
42. DUTIES OF SELECT COMMITTEES: 
 


42.1 Select Committees must consider, inquire into, report, and make recommendations 
to Council about the matters referred to the Committee by the Council. 


42.2 Select Committees must report and make recommendations to Council at the next 
Council meeting unless Council specifies a different date and time. 


 
 
43. SCHEDULE OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS: 
 


43.1 At its first meeting after its establishment a standing or select Committee must 
establish a regular schedule of meetings. 


43.2 The chair of a Committee may call a meeting of the Committee in addition to the 
scheduled meetings or may cancel a meeting. 


 
 
44. NOTICE OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS: 
 


44.1 Subject to section 44.2, after the Committee has established the regular schedule of 
Committee meetings, including the times, dates and places of the Committee 
meetings, notice of the schedule must be given by: 
(a) Posting a copy of the schedule at the Public Notice Posting Places; and 
(b) Providing a copy of the schedule to each member of the Committee. 


44.2 Where revisions are necessary to the annual schedule of Committee meetings, the 
Chair of the Committee must, as soon as possible, post a notice at the Public Notice 
Posting Places which indicates any revisions to the date, time and place or 
cancellation of a Committee meeting. 


  







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 232-2022 Page 18 of 19 


 


45. ATTENDANCE AT COMMITTEE MEETINGS: 
 


45.1 Council members who are not members of a Committee may attend the meetings 
of the Committee. 


 
 
46. MINUTES OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS TO BE MAINTAINED AND AVAILABLE TO PUBLIC: 
 


46.1 Minutes of the proceedings of a Committee must be: 
(a) Legibly recorded in the English language, 
(b) Signed by the secretary and chair or member presiding at the meeting, and 
(c) Open for public inspection at the Village Office. 


 
 
47. QUORUM: 
 


47.1 The quorum for a Committee is a majority of all of its members. 
 
 
48. CONDUCT AND DEBATE: 
 


48.1 The rules of the Council procedure must be observed during Committee meetings, 
so far as is possible and unless as otherwise provided in this bylaw. 


48.2 Council members attending a meeting of a Committee, of which they are not a 
member, may participate in the discussion only with the permission of a majority of 
the Committee members present. 


48.3 A motion made at a meeting of a Committee is not required to be seconded. 
 
 
49. VOTING AT MEETINGS: 
 


49.1 Council members attending a meeting of a Committee of which they are not a 
member must not vote on a question. 


 
 


PART I – GENERAL 
 
50. GENERAL: 
 


50.1 If any section, subsection or clause of this bylaw is for any reason held to be invalid 
by the decision of a court of competent jurisdiction, such decision will not affect the 
validity of the remaining portions of this bylaw. 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 232-2022 Page 19 of 19 


 


50.2 Deleterious communications will not be entertained by either a councillor or the 
Council as a whole.  A deleterious communication is any letter, note, complaint or 
oral report that is unsigned or uttered in a communication where the person 
communicating said is unable or unwilling to provide the name of the writer or 
speaker to Council. 
 
The nature of a deleterious statement or communication is known as hearsay in 
law.  Hearsay is not considered evidence in law therefore as a legally constituted 
body, the Council or members of the Council cannot accept such statements written 
or spoken. 


 
 
51. RESCINDING BYLAW: 
 


51.1 Bylaw 232-2017 is hereby repealed. 
 
 
52. DATE OF COMMENCEMENT: 
 


52.1 This bylaw shall come into effect upon third and final reading. 
 
Read a FIRST time this 14 day of April, 2022. 
Read a SECOND time this this 14 day of April, 2022. 
Read a THIRD time and finally passed this 14 day of April, 2022. 
 
   
Linda Allred  Carrie Kinahan 
Mayor  Chief Administrative Officer 


 








 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 263-2022 Mayor Initials:                     CAO Initials:                                            Page 1 of 2 


 


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 
BYLAW # 263-2022 


 
DRAFT Assessor Bylaw 


 
 
A BYLAW OF THE VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA, FOR                                  
THE PURPOSE OF ASSESSOR BYLAW. 


WHEREAS, pursuant to section 284 and 289 of the Municipal Government Act (MGA), R.S.A. 
2000, Chapter M26 as amen, provides that a municipality may establish one or more 
designated officer positions to carry out the powers, duties and functions of a designated 
officer under the Municipal Government Act (MGA) or any other enactment or bylaw; 


WHEREAS, section 210 of the Municipal Government Act (MGA), R.S.A. 2000, Chapter M-26 as 
amended, outlines the appointment of Designated Officers; 


NOW THEREFORE, the Council of the Village of Glenwood in the Province of Alberta regular 
Council meeting duly assembled, hereby enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be cited as the “Assessor Bylaw” 


 
2. DEFINITIONS:                                                                                                                                                                    
 


a) “Assessor” means a person, body corporate or commission, appointed by the 
municipality to the position of Assessor as defined in Section 284(d) of the Municipal 
Government Act (MGA). 
 


b) “Council” means Council of the Village of Glenwood; 
 


c) “Designated Officer” shall mean a Designated Officer within the meaning of the 
Municipal Government Act (MGA). 
 


3. ESTABLISHEMENT The following Designated Officer position is established:                                                                                                                                                                   
 


a) “Assessor”; to carry out the powers, duties, and responsibilities of an assessor as 
required by the Municipal Government Act (MGA). 


 
b) The assessor shall be appointed by a resolution of Council 


 
 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 263-2022 Mayor Initials:                     CAO Initials:                                            Page 2 of 2 


 


4. SEVERABILITY:                                                                                                                                                                    
a) If any section, subsection or clause of this bylaw is for any reason held to be invalid by the 


decision of a court of competent jurisdiction, such decision will not affect the validity of 
the remaining portions of this bylaw. 


 
Date of Commencement: 
 
This bylaw shall come into effect upon third and final reading. 
 
READ a first time this 14 day of April, 2022. 
READ a Second time this 14 day of April, 2022. 
READ a Third time and finally PASSED time this 14 day of April, 2022. 
 
 
 
______________________________            ______________________________  
Mayor – Linda Allred                                      Chief Administrative Officer – Carrie Kinahan 
 
 
 
 


 








 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 165-2022 Page 1 of 6 


 


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 
BYLAW # 165-2022 


 
Cemetery Bylaw 


 
A BYLAW OF THE VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
REGULATING THE GOVERNANCE AND OPERATIONS OF THE GLENWOOD CEMETERY. 
 
WHEREAS, the Council of the Village of Glenwood regards it expedient to enact certain laws, 
rules and regulations for the efficient operation and management of the Glenwood Cemetery; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Village of Glenwood, in the Province of Alberta, enacts as 
follows: 
 


1. NAME OF CEMETERY: 
 


a. That the cemetery shall be called the Glenwood Cemetery. 
 


2. DEFINITIONS: 
a. In this bylaw unless the context otherwise requires: 


i. Administration – Chief Administrative Officer of the village or any other 
village employee working in the village office; 


ii. Adult – means an individual over the age of twelve (12) years; 
iii. Burial – means the interment of human remains or cremated remains in 


an earth plot; 
iv. Burial Permit – means a burial permit issued under the Alberta Vital 


Statistics Act. If the deceased is cremated, then a Cremation Certificate 
will be accepted in its place; 


v. Casket – means a box made of wood, metal or other synthetic material 
used to encase a corpse for burial; 


vi. Cemetery – means the Glenwood Cemetery which is jointly owned by 
Cardston County and the Village of Glenwood, located at Block A, Plan 
1298FS, 4;27;5;13; NE; 


vii. Child – means an individual over the age of two (2) years and under the 
age of twelve (12) years; 


viii. Committee – means the cemetery committee as a whole; 
ix. Council – means the Village of Glenwood municipal council; 
x. County – means Cardston County; 


xi. Cremated Remains – means the remnants of the human body following 
the cremation process; 


xii. Disinterment – means exhumation or removal of human/cremated 
remains from a grave; 


xiii. Grave – means a plot that has been opened or used as a place of 
interment; 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 165-2022 Page 2 of 6 


 


xiv. Grave Cover (Cap) – means any covering other than earth and grass 
which covers the grave; 


xv. Grave Marker – means any above ground device or monument to mark a 
grave; 


xvi. Infant – means an individual under the age of two (2) years; 
xvii. Plot – means a four (4) foot by eight (8) foot space in the cemetery used 


for a place of burial; 
xviii. Monument or Headstone – means not wood, but may be a stone, iron or 


granite structure in the cemetery erected or constructed on a grave for 
memorial and identification purposes; 


xix. Resident – means residents or former residents and their immediate 
families of Cardston County, Hill Spring or Glenwood; 


xx. Urn – means a container used for storing human cremated remains; 
xxi. Vault – means an approved concrete or fibreglass receptacle placed in 


the cemetery plot that protects a casket after it is buried, and must 
support the weight of the earth and any cemetery equipment to prevent 
the grave from collapsing. A shroud can be used instead of a casket, but 
must still be placed inside a vault; 


xxii. Village – means the Municipality of the Village of Glenwood; 
xxiii. Wooden Ornamental – means any trees, shrubs, creepers or climbers. 


 
3. CEMETERY ACT: 
 


a. All cemetery regulations and plots shall conform to the Alberta Cemetery Act 
General Regulation RSA 2000 Chapter C-3. 


 
4. ADMINISTRATION: 
 


a. The village administration shall be responsible for the selling of plots in the 
cemetery, and the keeping and maintaining of records required by law, for the 
collection of fees and charges in connection therewith; 


b. Donations to the care of the cemetery may be made to the village and the use of 
the donation will be determined by the cemetery committee and administration; 


c. The village will be assisted in the care of the cemetery by a cemetery committee 
which shall be composed of at least: 


i. Two (2) residents of the Village of Glenwood; 
ii. Two (2) residents of Cardston County; 


iii. One (1) Village Council representative; 
iv. One (1) Cardston County Council representative. 


d. The village, with the cemetery committee, shall be responsible for the general 
maintenance of the grounds. Expenses incurred through regular maintenance by 
village personnel, and other maintenance, will be shared by the village and the 
county on a 50/50 basis, after revenue has been deducted. Village 
administration shall keep records of maintenance costs and submit an invoice 
annually to Cardston County. 


e. It shall be a duty of the cemetery committee to: 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 165-2022 Page 3 of 6 


 


i. Meet a minimum of twice a year; 
ii. Appoint a chairperson from amongst the members at least every 2 years; 


iii. Appoint a secretary from amongst the members at least every 2 years; 
iv. Keep accurate records of meetings and submit these records to the 


village administration for permanent record keeping purposes; 
v. Prepare a budget request for the following year, prior to October 31, if 


additional funds are needed. 
 


5. SALE OF PLOTS: 
 


a. Plots are no longer available for burial in the Pioneer Section of the Glenwood 
Cemetery, unless the deceased is a spouse of someone already buried there and 
has the deed or proof of payment for a plot; 


b. The price of plots shall be stated in the Village of Glenwood Rates, Fees & 
Charges Bylaw, and shall be payable at the time of the purchase of the plot; 


c. A Cemetery Plot Ownership Certificate (Appendix A) and receipt of payment will 
be given to purchaser of a cemetery plot; 


d. A copy of this cemetery bylaw shall be given to the purchaser of a burial plot at 
the time of purchase. 


e. A copy of this cemetery bylaw shall be given to the deceased next of kin prior to 
burial. 


f. Burial plots may be purchased by any person who wishes to do so, with pricing 
to be determined by their “resident” status; 


g. Burial plots may not be subdivided, resold or transferred without the consent of 
the Village of Glenwood administration; 


h. Funds received by the village for the sale of plots or donations for the cemetery 
shall be used to offset the maintenance expenses of the cemetery; 


i. Plots shall be used for human remains only. 
 


6. BURIALS: 
 


a. No burial shall be permitted without a proper burial permit, which includes 
burial of cremated ashes; 


b. All applications for burial or grave opening must be made to the village 
administration at least 24 hours prior to interment; 


c. Graves shall be dug and interments made only by a contractor approved by 
village administration; 


d. Vaults are required for full burials; 
e. The cost of opening and closing the grave shall be the responsibility of the 


deceased next of kin or the person making the request; 
f. All full burial graves must be a minimum of 5.5 feet deep; 
g. A maximum of one burial per plot, however, six (6) urns will be permitted in any 


plot following a traditional casket burial in that plot. An infant may also be 
buried in an occupied burial plot of a parent, grandparent or immediate family 
member; 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 165-2022 Page 4 of 6 


 


h. Cremated remains may be interred in the same plot with another body or other 
cremated remains upon registering such interment with village administration, 
however, no body shall be buried in a plot where cremated remains have 
previously been buried; 


i. Any burial of cremated remains shall be at a depth of not less than two (2) feet 
from the surface of the ground surrounding the grave. Buried urns must have a 
marker with identification for any remains buried in the plot. Up to six (6) urns 
may be placed in a plot without a casket burial. 


 
7. CEMETERY OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE: 
 


a. The Glenwood Cemetery shall, at least once annually, have a cemetery work day 
organized by the cemetery committee. Volunteers will be encouraged to 
participate; 


b. The Village of Glenwood will not be responsible for replacing, repairing or 
making good anything damaged or destroyed by earthquake, lightening, 
tornado, wind or manufactured defects or any other thing over which the Village 
of Glenwood has no control; 


c. No animals are allowed in the Glenwood Cemetery without permission from 
administration and the cemetery committee; 


d. No fence, railing, cement or metal wall, to enclose plot/plots, is permitted; 
e. No full-length grave covers (caps) are permitted – existing caps will be removed 


when they are broken: 
i. Existing fences, railing, cement or metal wall enclosures and grave covers 


shall be allowed to remain under this grandfather clause, provisional to 
them remaining in good condition and are not permitted to be replaced 
at any time; 


f. No shrub or tree will be planted in the cemetery without the permission of the 
village administration and/or cemetery committee; 


g. All flowers and other appropriate items must be placed on the headstone or 
headstone base. The definition of ‘appropriate’ is determined by village 
administration and the cemetery committee, jointly; 


h. No glass containers shall be permitted in the cemetery, unless permanently 
affixed to a monument; 


i. Plastic flowers and other ornamental items will be removed on or about April 1-
15 of each year; 


j. The Village of Glenwood retains the right to maintain the cemetery by fixing 
collapsed graves and by removing any caps which are broken. Before any 
capstone or broken debris is removed, village administration will endeavor to 
notify the next of kin; 


k. The base of a single monument (headstone) is not to exceed a width of four (4) 
feet and a depth of 1.5 feet. The base of a double monument is not to exceed 
the width of eight (8) feet and a depth of 1.5 feet; 


l. A monument (headstone) must not exceed a height of 2.5 feet from the base 
mentioned in 7.k.; 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 165-2022 Page 5 of 6 


 


m. All grave sites shall have a monument or permanent marker of any material 
except wood in place within two (2) years of burial, or one will be placed by the 
Village of Glenwood, with pricing as noted in the Rates, Fees & Charges Bylaw, at 
the expense of the next of kin. 


n. The owner of any moving vehicle will be responsible for any damage done by 
such vehicle within the boundaries of the cemetery; 


o. No vehicle or conveyance shall travel within the cemetery except on driveways 
intended for and wide enough for vehicular travel, or at a speed greater than ten 
(10) kilometers per hour; 


p. All digging within the boundaries of the Glenwood Cemetery requires prior 
approval from the Village of Glenwood administration; 


q. All complaints regarding the Glenwood Cemetery may be directed towards 
village administration and/or a member of the cemetery committee, for 
discussion at the next cemetery committee meeting. 


r. Should a difficult situation arise at the Glenwood Cemetery, village 
administration will alert the cemetery committee of the situation. Once a course 
of action has been jointly determined, the issue will first be dealt with by sending 
a Registered Letter to the concerned party, outlining the issue and how it will be 
dealt with; with the request for acknowledgement and communication from the 
concerned party in return. (Registered Letter) 


 
8. RESCINDING BYLAW: 


 
a. Bylaw 165-2021 is hereby repealed. 


 
9. DATE OF COMMENCEMENT: 


 
a. This bylaw shall come into effect upon third and final reading. 


 
 


10. Read for the FIRST time this ___ day of ___, 2022. 
11. Read a SECOND time this         day of   ___, 2022. 
12. Read a THIRD time and finally passed this        day ___, 2022. 


 
 
 
________________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Mayor – Linda Allred     Chief Administrative Officer – Carrie Kinahan 
 


 


 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 165-2022 Page 6 of 6 


 


 


Appendix “A” 


Glenwood Cemetery 


CEMETERY PLOT OWNERSHIP CERTIFICATE 
The Village of Glenwood, AB and Cardston County acknowledge 
receipt of the sum of: 


$ __________; (_______________________________________) CDN Dollars 


having been paid by ______________________________________________ 


Mailing Address: _________________________________________________ 


E-mail Address: __________________________________________________ 


Name & Contact info for next of kin: 
__________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________ 


for the purchase of the following VACANT cemetery plot(s) in the 
Glenwood Cemetery, located at: 


Block __________ Plot __________ 


Perpetual care donations for cemetery plot(s) can be made to the 
Village of Glenwood at any time, to aid in the upkeep and cemetery 
maintenance expenses incurred by the Village of Glenwood. 


Date: __________________________       ______________________________ 
Village Signature & Seal 


 


THIS IS FOR YOUR PERMANENT RECORD. PLEASE KEEP IN A SAFE PLACE. 








Village of Glenwood 


Policy 
 


Policy Number: Policy A10.2022 
Title of Policy: Council Coverage 
Resolution Number & Date:  
Effective Date: April 14, 2021 
Up for Review: October Regular Council Meeting, 2022 
Supersedes Policy #: n/a 


 


Village of Glenwood Cheque Writing Policy Page 1 of 1 
 


 
The purpose of this policy is to: 


Is to set out a standard for Council Coverage for Council Committee appointments for the 
Village of Glenwood Council and Administration. 


Policy Statement: 


As the Council and Village Administration, they will keep the Village of Glenwood make sure 
each Council committee meeting is attended as required. 


1 Definitions: 
For the purposes of this policy: 
a) “Council Coverage” If a Councillor is not able to attend a committee meeting. They can 


ask another Councillor to cover for them. 


 


END OF POLICY 
 
 
 


____________________________________     ____________________________________ 
Mayor                                                                               Date 








 3:13:13PM


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD


2022-Apr-12Cheque Listing For Council


Page 1 of 2


Cheque #


Cheque


Date Vendor Name Invoice # Invoice Description


Invoice 


Amount


Cheque 


Amount


 20220066 2022-03-09 TWINPRO INDUSTRIAL CHEMICALS REPL-20210416 Replacement Cheque  495.39  495.39


REPL-20210416 Replacement Cheque


 20220067 2022-03-10 ALLRED,  LINDA PAYMENT  41.30


2022.02.28 COUNCIL TRAVEL  41.30 


 20220068 2022-03-10 AMSC INSURANCE SERVICES LTD PAYMENT  1,041.82


0172-47,783 MARCH EMPLOYEE BENEFITS  1,041.82 


 20220069 2022-03-10 ATB FINANCIAL MASTERCARD PAYMENT  595.16


FEB 2022 PHONE SHOP POSTAGE  595.16 


 20220070 2022-03-10 BENCHMARK ASSESSMENT CONSULTANTS INC PAYMENT  4,226.26


2090 DEC-FEB  ASSESSMENT  2,113.13 


2204 MARCH- MAY ASS  2,113.13 


 20220071 2022-03-10 CARO ANALYTICAL SERVICES PAYMENT  155.19


IC2204760 THM YEARLY SAMPLE  155.19 


 20220072 2022-03-10 CHIEF MOUNTAIN REG. SOLID WASTE AUTH. PAYMENT  4,653.10


3074 1ST 1/2 OF ANNUAL REQ.  4,653.10 


 20220073 2022-03-10 JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL PAYMENT  44.46


1431362 HARDWARE FOR SKIDSTEER  38.26 


1432878 BOLT FOR SKID STEER  6.20 


 20220074 2022-03-10 NEXTGEN AUTOMATION, DIGITAL CONNECTION INC. PAYMENT  97.65


391145 PHOTOCOPIES  97.65 


 20220075 2022-03-10 OLSON, RICK & LEISA PAYMENT  44.47


2022.03.07 FD 2022 FAMILY DAY ACTIVITY  44.47 


 20220076 2022-03-10 PINCHER CREEK CO-OP PAYMENT  86.19


00222838D SKATING RINK  53.10 


00222898A WATER T PLANT  32.53 


INT OFFICE  0.56 


 20220077 2022-03-10 PINCHER CREEK FARM CENTRE INC. PAYMENT  80.70


628-440736 SKATING RINK  80.70 


 20220078 2022-03-10 PIRES-KRUG, JORDAAN PAYMENT  55.46


2022.03.03 WATER SAMPLE DELIVERY - YEARLY  55.46 


 20220079 2022-03-10 TOWN OF CARDSTON PAYMENT  1,350.73


2022679235 COUNCIL ORIENTATION  1,350.73 


 20220080 2022-03-10 WELLS FARGO EQUIPMENT FIN CO PAYMENT  220.36


5018935560 03/29/2022-04/28/2022  220.36 


 20220081 2022-03-10 CHIEF MOON , MANDY PAYMENT  100.00


2022.02.19 CDEP COM. HALL DEPOSIT REFUND  100.00 


 20220082 2022-03-10 YOUNG PINE, TRACEY PAYMENT  100.00


2022.02.22 DRET FEB. COMM. HALL  DEPOSIT RETURN  100.00 


 20220083 2022-03-31 ACTIVE LOCK & SAFE LTD. PAYMENT  1,515.68


15067 RE KEY VILLAGE  1,515.68 


 20220084 2022-03-31 ALBERTA HEALTH SERVICES , Food Handling PAYMENT  100.00


0021183822 PERMIT FOR P.P.  100.00 


 20220085 2022-03-31 ALBERTA MUNICIPAL SERVICE CORPORATION PAYMENT  4,196.92


22-1042574 UTILIITES  4,196.92 


 20220086 2022-03-31 ATB FINANCIAL MASTERCARD PAYMENT  920.79


MARCH 2022 POSTAGE, SHIPPING, PHONE,COUNCIL  920.79 


 20220087 2022-03-31 CITY OF LETHBRIDGE- FIRE ADMINISTRATION PAYMENT  343.28


66171 Q1 DISPATCH SERVICES  343.28 


 20220088 2022-03-31 GLENWOOD TIRES, GERALD CARTER PAYMENT  302.40


282956 2 TIRES FOR FLAT BED  302.40 







 3:13:13PM


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD


2022-Apr-12Cheque Listing For Council


Page 2 of 2


Cheque #


Cheque


Date Vendor Name Invoice # Invoice Description


Invoice 


Amount


Cheque 


Amount


 20220089 2022-03-31 HOLTHE, ELIZABETH PAYMENT  425.00


2020-2021 HALL CLEANING  350.00 


2022/01-02 2022 01-02 HALL CLEANING  75.00 


 20220090 2022-03-31 KINAHAN, CARRIE PAYMENT  242.19


2022.01-.03 E MANAGEMENT, FUEL,OFFICE, HALL,SHOP 242.19 


 20220091 2022-03-31 MUNISIGHT LTD COMPANY PAYMENT  609.02


224456 MAR - APRIL SUPPORT  609.02 


 20220092 2022-03-31 NEXTGEN AUTOMATION, DIGITAL CONNECTION INC. PAYMENT  121.81


397888 PHOTOCOPIES  121.81 


 20220093 2022-03-31 PIRES-KRUG, JORDAAN PAYMENT  11.03


03-30-2022 CONTAINERS FOR SHOP  11.03 


 20220094 2022-03-31 VAN DAN'S PAYMENT  23.65


2022-05 SKATING RINK REPAIR  23.65 


 20220095 2022-03-31 WELLS FARGO EQUIPMENT FIN CO PAYMENT  222.12


5019356867 04/29/2022 - 05-28/2022  222.12 


 20220096 2022-03-31 HUNSPERGER, PERRY


 20220097 2022-03-31 KINAHAN, CARRIE


 20220098 2022-03-31 PETERSON, MARK


 20220099 2022-03-31 HOLTHE , MILO


 20220100 2022-03-31 ALLRED, LINDA


 20220101 2022-03-31 LYBBERT, SANDY


 20220102 2022-03-31 LAW, STEVEN


 20220103 2022-03-31 KRUG - PIRES, JORDAAN


*** End of Report ***


Total  32,195.84








Alberta SouthWest Regional Alliance 
Minutes of the Board of Directors Meeting 


Wednesday, March 2, 2022-6:30pm-Zoom 
 


Board Representatives 


Brad Schlossberger, Claresholm  


Sahra Nodge, Pincher Creek 


Keith Robinson, Waterton 


Rick Lemire, MD Pincher Creek 


Kevin Todd, Nanton 


Barbara Burnett, Cowley 


Cam Francis, Cardston County 


 


Tim Court, Cardston 


Milo Holthe, Glenwood 


 


Resource Staff and Guests 


Tony Walker, CFABSW 


Selena McLean-Moore, JEI 


Linda Erickson, PrairiesCan 


Bev Thornton, AlbertaSW  


 
1 Call to Order/ 


 


Vice-Chair Brad Schlossberger called the meeting to order. 


 


2 Approval of Agenda Moved by Kevin Todd THAT the agenda be approved as presented. 


Carried. [2022-03-767] 


 


3 Approval of Minutes  Moved by Barbara Burnett THAT the Minutes of February 10, 2022, be approved 


as presented. 


Carried. [2022-03-768] 


 


4 Approval of Cheque Register Moved by Rick Lemire THAT cheques #3027 to #3045 be approved as presented. 


Carried. [2022-03-769] 


 


5 Authorize Agent for Service- Moved by Blair Painter THAT the Executive Director be authorized to submit 


the Annual Return to Alberta Corporate Registry on behalf of AlbertaSW.  


Carried. [2022-03-770] 


 


6 Southern Alberta Succession 


Matching Partnership 


 


Tony Walker provided an update and noted that any businesses registered 


before the program ends (March 31) will continue to receive support for 3 years. 


 


7 New Projects Plan JEI amendment to Grant Agreement allows early distribution of funds for 2022-


23 and optional $25,000 for projects. Documents have been submitted. 


 


8 Economic Development Week AlbertaSW municipalities are encouraged to submit a council resolution in 


recognition of International Economic Development Week, May 9-13, 2022. 


 


9 Upcoming Events 


 


Accepted as information; details have been distributed via Board Bulletin. 


 


10 Executive Director Report Accepted as information. 


 


11 Round table updates Accepted as information.  


 


12 Upcoming Meeting ➢ March 30, 2022- replaces regular meeting date of April 6, 2022-location TBD 
 


13 Adjourn  Moved by Blair Painter THAT the meeting be adjourned.  


Carried. [2022-03-771] 


    


  Chair 


Approved March 30, 2022 
 


  


  Secretary/Treasurer 


 








Alberta SouthWest Regional Economic Development Alliance 
International Economic Development Council (IEDC) Accredited Economic Development Organization (AEDO) 


Green Destinations Top 100 Sustainable Global Destinations and Top 3 Best of the Americas 
 


Box 1041 Pincher Creek AB T0K 1W0 
403-627-3373 (office) 403-627-0244 (cell)  
bev@albertasouthwest.com 
www.albertasouthwest.com 


Alberta SouthWest Bulletin April 2022 
Regional Economic Development Alliance (REDA) Update 


 


❖ Peaks to Prairies Top 100 Story recognized at ITB Berlin International 
Green Destinations Story Awards celebrate the outstanding Good Practice Stories  


of the Top 100 list, which are then further evaluated, in 6 categories, at the international 


ITB Berlin tourism conference. Peaks to Prairies was named Top 3 in the category of 


“Decarbonizing the Destination Supply Chain”. 


The awards ceremony was held virtually on March 11, 2022.  


 


❖ Tourism Town Hall Events 
Travel Alberta and the Tourism Industry Association of Alberta 


(TIAA) co-hosted a series of in-person Tourism Town Halls in communities across the province. Travel Alberta CEO 


David Goldstein noted that a recent study by Destination Canada showed Alberta is consistently ranked highest in 


Canada in terms of tourist receptivity which gives the province an advantage in attracting visitors. Here are some 


news reports on our local events: 


Lethbridge Herald https://lethbridgeherald.com/news/lethbridge-news/2022/03/10/travel-alberta-looking-to-


jumpstart-provincial-tourism-industry/ 


Toronto Star/Shootin’ the Breeze https://www.thestar.com/news/canada/2022/03/16/tourism-recovery-strategy-


announced-at-pincher-creek-town-hall.html?rf 


 


❖ Meeting with Minister Schweitzer 
Board Chairs and Executive Directors of SouthGrow and AlbertaSW met with the Hon. Doug Schweitzer, Minister 


of Jobs, Economy and Innovation to share ideas on the planning and communications between our municipalities 


and the department can effectively create positive economic development outcomes. 


 


❖ Presentation about “short tower” broadband network technology 
AlbertaSW Board and municipal administration attended a presentation from Sequorum Inc. about their proprietary 


Quocom™ internet network technology. Described as “short tower” wireless technology, it may be a viable rural 


option that is fast (1 Gbps+) with “virtually unlimited” backhaul capability that can cover any terrain at roughly ¼ 


the cost of other network technologies. The business model is a partnership equity, investors and financing options.  


 


❖ Bomber Command recovery mission 
Pieces of RCAF Halifax bomber HR871 from 405 squadron are being recovered in the Baltic Sea new Sweden. 


Compressed air tools and hand tools are being used to cut through the bent ends of the Halifax wing main spar to 


get another piece that is critical to our wing build in Canada. For the last 10 years, Halifax parts have been collected 


from all over Europe, and the parts from the underwater Halifax will add to the parts already collected to build a 


complete plane to be displayed at the Bomber Command Museum of Canada in Nanton, next to the Lancaster. 


 


❖ Resolutions in recognition of International Economic Development Week 
Economic Developers Alberta, in partnership with AM and RMA, encourage municipalities to 


pass a council resolution in support of International Economic Development week, May 9-13, 


recognizing the important work of our economic development professionals and organizations. 


https://www.edaalberta.ca/Economic-Development-Week 



mailto:bev@albertasouthwest.com

http://www.albertasouthwest.com/

https://www.tiaalberta.ca/cpages/home

https://www.tiaalberta.ca/cpages/home

https://lethbridgeherald.com/news/lethbridge-news/2022/03/10/travel-alberta-looking-to-jumpstart-provincial-tourism-industry/

https://lethbridgeherald.com/news/lethbridge-news/2022/03/10/travel-alberta-looking-to-jumpstart-provincial-tourism-industry/

https://www.thestar.com/news/canada/2022/03/16/tourism-recovery-strategy-announced-at-pincher-creek-town-hall.html?rf

https://www.thestar.com/news/canada/2022/03/16/tourism-recovery-strategy-announced-at-pincher-creek-town-hall.html?rf

https://www.edaalberta.ca/Economic-Development-Week






 


 
1.0 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 


 Reeve Merrill Harris called the meeting to order at 1:00 pm. 
   
2.0 ADDITIONS TO / APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 2.1  Discuss moving meetings to in-person 
 Discussion took place regarding moving meetings to in-person or stay online. Most members would 


prefer a hybrid meeting if possible or alternate in person and online monthly.  
  
3.0 ADDITIONS TO / APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES  
 Motion to adopt the minutes, moved by Reeve Maryanne Sandberg, Carried. 
 
4.0 BUSINESS ITEMS ARISING FROM MINUTES 
 . 
5.0 MP AND MLA UPDATES 


 
5.1 MP Reports – 


 
MP Glen Motz 


• Discussed the looming CP rail strike and the catastrophic impact this would have on 
the Ag industry. 


• Is one of the representatives on the Legislative oversight committee. 


• Discussed Bill C-11, The Digital Charter Implementation Act, which will focus on 
censorship, and a better control of outside influence. 


• Discussed Bill C-8, An Act to amend the Citizenship Act. 


• Bill C-245, Building Prairies Economy Act. 


• Is on the National Defence Committee, have discussed with NATO Canada’s 
involvement in Ukraine’s defence. 


 
  Brenda McDonald rep for MP Thomas 


• Discussed the war in Ukraine and that the government will match contributions to the 
Red Cross up to $10 million dollars. 


• Majority of constituents believe the implementation of the emergencies act was an 
over-reach. 


• Many constituents are concerned about the rising cost of living. 
 


5.2 MLA Reports –   
 


   MLA Nathan Neudorf 


• Discussed the provincial budget.  


• Discussed the acute doctor shortage. 


• Discussed the new generations work/life balance. 


• Discussed the increasing utility bills. 
 


6.0 Reports 


6.1  Alberta Southwest Regional Alliance Report – Mayor Blair Painter 


• On March 11th the results of the Peaks to Prairie green destination winner will be 
announced. 


MINUTES 
Friday, March 4, 2022 


Virtual Meeting via Zoom 







 
Mayors and Reeves of Southwest Alberta                                                                                                                                        Page 2  
March 4, 2022 Minutes 


• In person town hall meetings will take place on March 8 in Lethbridge and March 9 
in Pincher Creek with Travel Alberta and the Tourism Industry Association. 


 


 6.2 SouthGrow – Mayor Jim Willett 


• Thanked MP Motz for his visit to Coutts. 


• See electronic report. 


 6.3  RMA – Reeve Jason Schneider 


• Discussed unpaid oil and gas taxes. 


• Discussed MSI funding. 


• Discussed the balanced budget. 


• Discussed rural health care. 


• RMA convention will be held March 14-16 in Edmonton. 


           6.4    AM – Councillor Tanya Thorn 


• Municipal Leaders Caucus is March 9 and March 10. 


• Discussed the recommendations from the Alberta police interim advisory board that 
were completely rejected by the government. 


• Discussed the RCMP retroactive pay. Public Safety Canada outlined the high and 
low end of what retro pay could be.  Invoices are expected to be mailed out in May. 
AM continues to advocate that the federal government pay the retroactive pay. 


• Future of Municipal Government starts next month. 


 


6.5 Oldman Watershed Council – Shannon Frank 


• Discussed the coal policy announcement.  The government banned new exploration 
and new coal mines in the eastern slopes. 


• World water day is on March 22, the watersheds have organized a ground water 
virtual event, more information on the event is on their website. 


• Thanked all donors. 


• Mayor Kent Bullock discussed the snow pack in the mountains.  Snow pillows are 
looking good even though the snow in the prairies has not helped much. 


 
        6.6      Highway #3 Association- Councillor Bill Chapman 


• Discussed the increase in memberships since the past election. 


• Highway 3 corridor is being promoted as the agriculture capital of Canada. 


• Discussed the province announcing funding for 8 pullouts. 


• Discussed the trade shows Highway #3 Association is in. 


 


7.0 NEXT MEETING DATE 
Friday, April 1, 2022 at 1:00 – Hybrid meeting 


 
8.0 ADJOURNMENT:  


Mayor Ed Weistra moved to adjourn the meeting at 2:26 pm - Carried  
 
 







 
Mayors and Reeves of Southwest Alberta                                                                                                                                        Page 3  
March 4, 2022 Minutes 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Fu  








 


  


 


 


 


Monthly Report 
For Mayors and Reeves 


Feb 


April 2022| By: Peter Casurella 


SouthGrow Regional Initiative 


P: 403-394-0615 


E: peter.casurella@southgrow.com 


A Big Year of Nuts and Bolts Ahead 







 


 


1 


April 2022 
 


 
Last Year the SouthGrow Regional Initiative spend a great deal of time building projects and piecing together the 
funding to make them happen. So as we look at the year ahead, we have a lot of ‘gear turning’ ahead of us. For this 
month’s summary, I thought I’d give you an overview of those programs that we have successfully built, and now 
have to run!  
 
So without further to-do… 
 


1. Supply Chain Identification Project (2022 – 2024) 


This project had its roots in the early days of the pandemic when us staff people were trying to peer forward 
in time at what we would need to do to support economic recovery. Economic Development Lethbridge and 
SouthGrow pitched our government funders on an ‘Import Replacement Project’ based on research out of 
Atlantic Canada which would see us working to create regional connections to replace outside sourcing and 
increasing internal sales. Over 2-years we refined the project concept and re-titled it as a ‘supply chain’ 
initiative and finally secured matching funding from the Government of Canada and the Government of 
Alberta to run it as a pilot. This project will be administered by SouthGrow, jointly managed by Economic 
Development Lethbridge and SouthGrow, and has funding in place to hire a contractor or staff person to do 
the actual work. It will run from 2022 through 2024.  


 


2. Global Marketing Initiative – Agrifood (2022-2023) 
 


This is a SouthGrow led partnership that involves funded support from Canada’s Premier Food Corridor (5 
communities), the Southern Alberta Trade and Investment Initiative, with additional interest from the Town of 
Claresholm and Vulcan County. It has also been supported by the Government of Canada through their 
Canexport grant program. In the spring and summer of 2021, we put together a funding package to build a 
global marketing campaign. Then in the fall of 2021 we applied for the funding to actually RUN the marketing. 
In January 2022 we received word that we had been awarded ALL of the funding we asked for. We now have 
the money lined up to run a robust full 12 month program which will launch as soon as the money from the 
GOC actually arrives.  


 


3. FDI Test Drive Year 2 


In 2020, our partners in the Southern Alberta Investment and Trade Initiative and Canada’s Premier Food 
Corridor ran a trial program to test out a program of curated introductions to agri-food companies looking to 
expand in southern Alberta. SouthGrow built the funding package and Economic Development Lethbridge 
managed the project, which resulted in high-quality investment, or business expansion leads in the agri-food 
sector, with leads initiating conversations with a number of our member across the region. These were all 
conversations with large international food conversations, most of which are ongoing. SouthGrow applied to 
Canexport for additional funding in 2021 to repeat the project for 2022 and we were awarded the funds. 
SouthGrow will again administer this project while Economic Development Lethbridge staffs it.  


 


4. Zero Emissions Vehicle Infrastructure Project 
 
In 2020 SouthGrow applied to administer a portion of the Federal Government’s zero emissions vehicle 
infrastructure project. This would allow us to give southern Albertans first crack at matching funding for new 
infrastructure as the transportation industry enters a period of rapid change. By leading on this initiative, we 
are making sure that our municipalities and businesses are at the front-end of this changing landscape so 







that we can lower the cost of change while there are matching grants to offset the costs that will have to be 
incurred eventually. There is likely to be additional funding for a second round of this program following the 
first and it is clear at this point already that the programs will fill up fast as demand for ev skyrockets, boosted 
by souring prices at the pump. Note: Just last week the Federal government announced an acceleration of 
their ev transition goals mandating that by 2026, 20% of all light duty vehicles sold in Canada must be zero 
emissions. 


 


Please watch for our full operational plan later this month!  


 
 
Sincerely, 


Peter Casurella 
Executive Director 
SouthGrow Regional Initiative 
1-403-394-0615 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


3 


Headlines for April 2022 


 


Please find below an update that tracks our operational plan for the year and which speaks to each item. We’re at the end of a 
very ambitious year, and while we did not achieve everything we hoped to, we did really really well and we should all be proud 
of what we got accomplished.  


 


Please find below an update that tracks our operational plan for the year and which speaks to each item. 
 


1. Administration 
 


- All municipal invoices have been paid.  
- Highway 3, Milk River Cable Club, and Exhibition Park are now paying associate members of SouthGrow. 


Outstanding dues from Lethbridge Chamber of Commerce.  
- We have surpassed our income goal for the year, meaning that we are reducing the amount of ‘loss’ from using 


reserves to fund this year’s operations. This is largely due to more partnership income than anticipated, grants, and 
other fees. 


- 3rd Party oversight of Financials has been satisfactory. Our books are well in order.  
- As of today, JEI has officially told us that they are moving ahead with distributing next year’s $50,000 before the 


end of March, 2022. They will also be sending us an additional $25,000 for projects before the end of March.  
-  


 
2. Strategic Collaborations 


 
 


Member Engagement 
 
  Activity: Annual Council Presentations.  


Goal: The Executive Director will endeavor to deliver a direct report to council to half of our members on an 
annual basis. (14) 


  Target: 50% of members receive a report directly to council (15) 
  Progress: Presented to 24 councils.  


Status: Exceeded Targets – COMPLETE 
Outcome: 24 presentations were delivered.  
 


 
  Activity: Councillor Training (Economic Development for Elected Officials) 


Goal: SouthGrow will provide subsidized training in Economic Development to regional councilors following 
the municipal elections in October 2021 and deliver that training to at least 20 councilors.  
Target: One session held in January 2022, 20 Councilors in attendance 
Progress: Training completed. 32 attendees.  
Status: Exceeded Target – COMPLETE 
Outcome: 28 councilors and 4 staff attended the training for the full day. It was well-received, engagement 
was good, and the information was valuable.  
 


   
  Activity: Sustainability Committee 


Goal: SouthGrow will convene a sustainability committee of volunteers pulled from its members to explore 
models for sustaining the organization's operations beyond 2023 and will present a recommendation by 
March 2022. 







Target: At least one feasible recommendation for organization sustainability past 2023 presented to the full 
board of directors by March 2022. 
Progress: Committee was formed, 3 minuted meetings have been held, several informal meetings with 
stakeholders for discussion purposes held, recommendations drafted and forwarded to Executive. 
Recommendations approved for presentation to full board for discussion and voting. Board voted to increase 
member rate and to renew conversations with GOA about sustaining our funding.  
Status: COMPLETED 
Outcomes: Organization sustained for the foreseeable future. More wins possible in near future.  
 
 
Activity: Economic Development Summit  
Goal: SouthGrow hosts a regional Economic Development Summit in March of 2022 that provides 
stakeholders with access to speakers and engagement on important economic development topics, trends, 
and issues that affect our region.  
Target: Greater than 70 attendees from member communities, partners, and stakeholders. 
Progress: Venue and date booked for end of March 2022. Will be held in Carmangay. Board has directed staff 
to proceed with in-person gathering for event. Agenda completed; speakers secured. Event Held.  
Status: COMPLETED Missed attendance target.  
Outcome: Over 60 attendees, event was very well-received with excellent feedback about format and quality 
of topics. There was high event competition due to surge of in-person demands. Came in about $1000 under 
budget.   
 


 
Build and Sustain Collaborations 


 
Activity: Southern Alberta Alternative Energy Partnership – Community Energy Forum 
Goal: SouthGrow will increase community awareness of opportunities in renewable energy by hosting a 
community energy forum that offers staff and councilors an in-depth look at the opportunities available in 
community energy, how to pursue them, how to fund them, and the benefits they bring; and we will host this 
forum in the early fall of 2021, before municipal budgets are set for the coming year. 
Target: 40 staff and councillors, or other interested parties attend.  
Progress: Event held. 60 attendees. Well-received. 
Status: Exceeded Target – COMPLETED 
Outcomes Over 60 attendees at event. Excellent feedback. Event was appreciated and informative.  


 
Activity: Southern Alberta Alternative Energy Partnership – Website Update 
Goal: SouthGrow will update the SAAEP website in the fall of 2021 to ensure content is current and the 
projects map is up to date.  
Target: Website updated, tested, and content is reviewed and updated. Additional resources added.   
Progress: Website is complete and ready to be put up.  
Status: COMPLETED – Exceeded targets in that we got it funded by Community Futures.  
Outcome: Website built and pushed live. Got it completed for free. Contractor uploading additional news 
stories to increase backlinks.  
 
Activity: Southern Alberta Investment and Trade Initiative Participation 
Goal: SouthGrow maintains its participation and leadership in the Southern Alberta Investment and Trade 
Initiative, pursuing meaningful projects under its umbrella as detailed in other plan sections. 
Target: At least one project is advanced under the brand within 2021 
Progress: Global Marketing Project Phase 1 has been fully complete. Phase 2 partners have committed 
$20,000, grant application going to CanExport in October 2021 for doubling. Contractor to run Phase 2 of the 
marketing program has been identified.  Grant has been submitted. Website work is complete. Waiting on 
grant contract.  
Status: COMPLETED – exceeded target. Two projects advanced.  







 


 


5 


Outcomes: Global marketing campaign built and funded. FDI Test Drive Year 2 funded and moving forward.  
 


Activity: Canada’s Premier Food Corridor and Canada’s Western Gateway 
Goal: SouthGrow supports the growth of sub-regional collaborations that promote industry clusters by 
convening them when necessary, hosting meetings, providing advisor services, connecting them with 
resources, and by actively using those brands in our own communications efforts. This support is ongoing and 
continual. 
Target: CPFC and CWG remain active and managed by their own membership. 
Progress: CPFC has had multiple meetings and is moving ahead with a video project. CWG is planning their 
next meeting and has been working with local MLA on designation of the corridor for marketing purposes. 
CWG group has new appointments and can plan meeting. Work derailed by convoy protestors; GOA contacts 
overwhelmed.  
Status: COMPLETED – CPFC has met all targets, CWG slight miss on targets. Low activity.  
Outcome: CPFC has built videos and is being led by their communities. Southgrow provides support and 
includes CPFC in SAITI initiatives due to mutual interest. CWG has struggled with new councils and meeting 
restrictions. Need local buy-in to advance the initiative. Conversations with Prairies Can have led to an 
invitation from them to apply for ‘cluster ignition’ funding to staff both initiatives for up to 4 years. EDL will 
lead on the application with close support from SouthGrow.  


 
 
Activity: Southern Alberta Tourism Collaboration 
Goal: SouthGrow collaborates with Tourism Lethbridge to promote the growth of the tourism Industry and 
tourism opportunities in the SouthGrow region to secure support for regional tourism growth and build trust 
between the city and region on this file. Importantly, SouthGrow pays Tourism Lethbridge to assist in a slate 
of services that are regionally focused. 
Target:   SouthGrow leverages our investment by 2x that of Tourism Lethbridge. Program targets are met 
within the slate of services. Relationships between regional and city stakeholders on the tourism file are 
improved. 
Progress: All deliverables completed by Tourism Lethbridge. Report pending from them.   
Status: COMPLETED 
Outcomes: Delivered all 5 projects under agreement. Regional routes and awareness advanced.  
 
Activity: Highway 3 Twinning Development Association 
Goal: SouthGrow graduates the Highway 3 Twinning Development Association out of its umbrella and 
continues to strategically support its operations with matching funding, board representation, In-kind 
support, and regional buy-in from our membership. SouthGrow ensures that the H3TDA remains a vibrant, 
active, and impactful organization. 
Target: H3TDA is independent at the end of 2021. 
Progress:  H3TDA has been meeting their goals. Association is fully independent except for mail collection. 
Discussions to be had near end of year on evolution of relationship. Discussions were held. All paperwork has 
been updated, H3TDA ready to go independent of SouthGrow umbrella. SouthGrow to remain as a core 
partner and continue to provide matching funds for project work. H3TDA fully independent as of December 
31. 
Status: COMPLETED 
Outcomes: H3TDA is independent. Still pays SGRI for admin back-stop and uses our mailbox and cloud 
storage. This is a good situation that lets us have a supporting hand without direct responsibility.  
 


Sustain or Expand Membership  
 


 Activity: Present to Barons and Barnwell on rejoining SouthGrow 
Goal: SouthGrow presents the value of membership to the Villages of Barons and Barnwell with a request for 
them to re-consider membership with the association.  
Target: Both villages receive a presentation. Barons elects to join SouthGrow. Barnwell elects to join 







SouthGrow.  
Progress:  In this year the Town of Bow Island requested a membership presentation and joined the 
association and the County of 40 Mile also recently joined. Barnwell has invited a membership presentation 
for January. Barons is undergoing a by-election and we will re-approach them in January.     
Status: COMPLETED 
Outcome: Membership has surged to 30 municipalities. Barnwell considering membership.  


 
Activity: Expand Associate Memberships to Industry and Institutions 
Goal: SouthGrow engages stakeholder businesses or institutions in the region through associate 
memberships, making them partners in the work of regional economic development and recruits at least 2 
such members in 2021.  
Target: 2 Associate Members within 2021  
Progress:  Associate Memberships have been requested from Exhibition Park, the Lethbridge Chamber of 
Commerce, University of Lethbridge. Other prospects include Lethbridge College and the Lethbridge Industrial 
Association. Milk River Cable Club has requested an associate membership. Key contact at the U of L has left, 
will re-approach. MRCC has paid membership; Ex Park has eagerly joined. Waiting on confirmation from 
Lethbridge Chamber.  
Status: COMPLETED 
Outcomes: Exhibition Park and MRCC joined as associate members. H3TDA also a close affiliate. Lethbridge 
Chamber agreed to reciprocal membership, has not yet paid.  
 
 
 


3. Marketing and Communications 
 


Regional Promotion 
 
Activity: Website Improvements 
Goal: SouthGrow updates its easy-to-use WIX website with additional resources from its digitization program 
in 2020 and makes these resources available. Links are tested, content refreshed, and meta data improved for 
greater visibility and impact. Backlinks to core partner websites are added in a visible location before end of 
year.  
Target: Website is refreshed by end of May 2021 with opportunities for additional improvements throughout 
the year.  
Progress:  Behind envisioned pace but work is now ongoing. Large amounts of content added to resources, 
visual updates happening with new photos, content being reviewed and updated.  
Status: COMPLETED 
Outcomes: Updates made. Continuing work needed.  
 
 
Activity: Market the Region Globally 
Goal: SouthGrow project manages a digital marketing campaign in 2021 as part of the SAITI partnership and 
runs a digital campaign that raises the profile of our region in target markets around the world, with particular 
emphasis on the United States, Canada, and Western Europe.  
Target: SouthGrow has the campaign built by June of 2021 in partnership with our selected consultants.  
SouthGrow oversees the running of phase 2 by a qualified consultant (the actual campaign) in the summer 
and fall of 2021. Collect meaningful data on penetration and conversions from this pilot for base metric in 
future campaigns.   
Progress:  Phase 1 complete, entire campaign built. Qualified consultant identified, Phase 2 funded by 
partners, applying for CanExport grant to double project funds. Grant application submitted. Landing page 
build moving forward. All partner funds collected. Waiting on Canexport funding to arrive.  
Status: COMPLETED 
Outcomes: Timelines were slower than hoped but large program built and fully funded for 2022 







 


 


7 


implementation.   
 
 


Activity: Regional Photography Project 
Goal: SouthGrow works with Economic Development Lethbridge to co-fund a robust still and moving digital 
image package of regional facilities and views capes that can be used by any of our members for websites, 
promotional materials, and more. This package is procured in the spring of 2021 and is available to the region 
by summer 2021.  
Target: A couple dozen high-quality images of views capes of note, with some motion Images as well.  
Progress:  Photography project mostly complete, a couple of outstanding shots for sites that photographer is 
having a hard time reaching. Photos uploaded and delivered to membership for use. I’m not sure we will ever 
see the final two photos, but EDL has held back payment pending their delivery.  
Status: COMPLETED – Exceeded Targets 
Outcomes: 90 High-quality shots of 25 locations delivered and shared with our membership and integrated 
into numerous projects.  


 
Stakeholder Communications     
 


Activity: Newsletters 
Goal: SouthGrow keeps its internal members and stakeholders well-advised of trends, opportunities, threats, 
and events that impact community and regional economic development. We also keep them well informed of 
Provincial Government initiatives.  
Target: Newsletters are issued bi-weekly to a distribution list of anyone who wants it.  
Board members receive a daily Government Relations newsletter forwarded from the SouthGrow office. 
Progress:  Newsletters have been delivered on-time with high-quality. AB Today newsletters regularly sent 
out. I’ve been very pleased with Jessie Stilson and her work on the newsletters. I think priority for next year 
will be retaining her AND doing some marketing to expand the reach of our newsletter. Its very high quality. 
Jessie has signed back on for another year.  
Status: COMPLETED 
Outcomes: Hit all targets. Excellent newsletter production.  


 
 


4. Economic Development and Innovation 
 


Ag-Tech Market Development  
 


Activity: Ag-Tech Scholarship / Incentive Program 
Goal: SouthGrow actively supports youth engagement in the Hi-Tech Ag sector by partnering with educational 
organizations in the region to deliver scholarships to students attending Lethbridge College or the University 
of Lethbridge who plan to build a career in agri-food in southern Alberta.  
Target: At least 2 scholarships worth $1500 each are awarded in the fall of 2021.  
Applicants exceed 2020 numbers. (11)  
Progress:  Contributions received from MNP and AFSG totalling $2000. Total available $5000. Committee is 
currently working to award Scholarships. Applicant numbers were down by 1. Scholarships awarded. Lots of 
interest in sponsorships for next year. 
Status: COMPLETED: Exceeded Target for $, On Track for Project timelines, Missed increase in applicant 


numbers. 
Outcomes: $5000 awarded to two deserving students. 1 fewer applicants than year prior.  


 
Activity: Exhibition Park Virtual Reality Program 
Goal: SouthGrow will actively support the development of virtual reality venue that replicates the new 
Exhibition Park pavilion and serves as a remote gathering space for meetings and a sales tool for attracting 
conventions and events to.  







Target: VR space is built and in active operation by SouthGrow and others by March 2022.  
Progress:  VR space has been built, SouthGrow’s logo is in it. Model is being used by Exhibition Park. Regional 
Portal and access not yet set up. Project lost its technical lead at 90% complete. We offered to help Ex Park re-
fund the project through a grant and get it to completion. This will bleed into next years operational plan but 
should achieve target.  
Status: Incomplete 
Outcome: VR Space has been 95% completed but internal staffer at Ex Park who was building it left mid-year 
leaving the project abandoned. SouthGrow supported an Ex Park Grant application to secure money to 
complete the project.  
 


 
Broadband Deployment  
 


Activity: Terragraph Project for Below CRTC Speed Members 
Goal: SouthGrow organizes and manages a partnership of the Vulcan County villages to jointly apply to the 
Canadian Healthy Communities Initiative to fund a deployment of Terragraph equipment in their communities 
and in hamlets where infrastructure allows. We also Shepard other communities, such as the Village of 
Warner, Coutts, Foremost, Cardston, and Vauxhall towards implementing this technology. Builds for all 11 
remaining communities are progressing by the end of March 2022.  
Target: Contract issued to an ISP to build out Vulcan County villages and hamlets.  


Stretch Goal 1: Vauxhall included in RFP.  
Stretch Goal 2: Cardston has build underway.  
Stretch Goal 3: Warner, Coutts, and Foremost have builds underway 


Progress:  Vulcan County project shovel ready, Highway 4 project shovel ready, Cardston project racing 
towards shovel ready status. Grant applications submitted for Vulcan and Highway 4 projects. Grants sadly 
unsuccessful. Next approaches to be made to Service Alberta and Prairies Can, then other directions for grant 
funding. Prairies Can uncertain that they can help fund. Service Alberta alarmingly going in a different 
direction with their grant money????  Won’t confirm that the money will be part of an intake. POP site 
upgrades are progressing. Bittersweet outcome from government announcement. All their money to be spent 
on basic service, no money for projects like ours. Next steps: Look for more grant funding, OR start looking for 
philanthropists. Found broadband solution for Blood Tribe. Conversations beginning. Also seeking new path 
forward for Cardston with town staff. 
Status: MIXED RESULTS 
Outcomes: The good: Funded community-scale project for the Town of Milk River, brought Wi-fibre on as an 
private partner for Vulcan County build-out, leveraged MRCC knowledge and support to equip Wi-fibre with 
Terragraph technology, helped build shovel-ready projects to cover all remaining villages and 2 hamlets, led 
conversations with Mage-Networks to facilitate build out in Foremost, negotiated reduction in price for POP 
site upgrades in Vulcan County and in Highway 4 communities – costs reduced by over 50% through help from 
Service Alberta. POP site upgrades physically taking place in spring 2022 with partial funding from private 
partnerships and our municipalities. Helped Cardston get a costed build priced out and explore p3 options to 
advance their own project. Offered introductions and a path forward to Blood Tribe to advance local network 
builds on the nation. SouthGrow Cost Benefit Study for Alberta rural Broadband cited by both Service 
Alberta in their funding announcements and by the NDP in the announcement of their broadband plan. 
SouthGrow personally and publically thanked by Minister Glubish for the pioneering work we’ve done to 
advance this file. The Bad: Grant applications for $500,000 for two projects to enable builds in 11 
communities were unsuccessful and all current funding is allocated for 50/10 projects only.  
 


 
Pilot Projects 


 
Activity: Zero Emissions Vehicle Infrastructure Project (30 month) 
Goal: SouthGrow manages the disbursement of ZEVIP funding from NRCAN to fund a wide array of charging 
infrastructure in the region. This project is completed by 2023 and involves an active partnership with the 







 


 


9 


MCCAC allowing many of our member municipalities to get fully subsidized infrastructure, and institutions and 
businesses to get 50% matching funding for their projects. The full amount is successfully spent by project end 
in 2023.  
Target: Est 1.7 million dollars in spend on infrastructure, and over 100 chargers by 2023.  
2021 Target. Funding is secured, Project Manager hired, operational plan is on-schedule for completion.  
Contingency: Application template, technical contacts for FLO, information package on how to site chargers, 
and other supporting documents are supplied to members. Members are applying (at least 20).  
Progress:  Agreed on contract making circulation for signatures. Long delays from the Feds. Continual contract 
changes to negotiate. Committee has charted a good path forward. Changing goalposts from NRCAN have 
been frustrating. 46% matching funding now the reality rather than 50%. October start envisioned. November 
contract was signed. RFP has been issued. Planning Press release. Hiring Project Manager. MCCAC Hired, all 
paperwork advancing. Municipalities all moving into MCCAC applications cue. Going well.  
Status: COMPLETE  
Outcomes: Project secured, partnerships built, funding flowing, applications incoming, operational plan is on-
schedule. This is going according to plan.  


 
Activity: EV Bus Pilot Project 
Goal: SouthGrow completes multi-year application process to get EV bus for highway 4 corridor funded, with 
funding landed within 2021 and bus purchased and operational in-region by January of 2022  
Target: FCM grant is landed by fall of 2021. Bus is purchased and delivered by December of 2021.   
Progress:  FCM has come back in September 2021 with requests for MORE information. Staff has begun work 
on alternate grant opportunity. Grant was successful after all! More documents submitted, waiting for 
contract to sign from the FCM. Have the contract, have quotes from equipment providers. Local stakeholders 
wavering. Need to send documents to them to get final decision. This has been two years of work and we 
achieved the impossible.  
Status: COMPLETED-ish  
Outcomes: Grant was secured. Initial vehicle choice had to be pivoted. New vehicle option sourced. Need final 
buy-in from Heritage handibus society and go-no-go decision.  


 
Activity: Nobleford Incinerator Pilot Project 
Goal: SouthGrow project manages the feasibility study for the possible purchase and installation of a 
community waste Incinerator in the Town of Nobleford, in collaboration with Nobleford and Barons. The 
Feasibility study is complete by the end of 2021 with intent to apply to the FCM for pilot project funding in 
early 2022.  
Target: Feasibility study is complete by October of 2021.  
FCM has reviewed feasibility study and advises on pilot scale application by December 2021.  
Progress:  No progress made by Engineer. Problem appears to be leveraging of ‘free / donated’ work by 
engineering company leading to no progress. Need to find new way forward or way to incentivize / pay for the 
work.  Major interest from members in this project. Engineer is back on board, conversation with Nobleford 
council planned this month. Unsure if Nobleford will continue with us. Other communities waiting to take 
over pilot project if they do not. MPE is ready to go.  
Status: NOT COMPLETED   
Outcomes: Feasibility study was not completed due to factors mentioned above. Project remains an interest 
of the Board of Directors.  


 
 
Targets of Opportunity 


 
 


Activity: Regional Import Replacement Program 
Goal: SouthGrow project manages a 2-year regional import replacement project that completes its work 
within the 2-year timespan of the project as defined by the detailed project proposals.  
Target: A government funded Import Replacement project for our region is implemented and pursuing its 







 


operational goals.  
Progress:  Funding committed from JEI and Prairies Can, and local partners. Looking at April start.   
Status: COMPLETED 
Outcomes: We got the funding! Paperwork is all that stands between us and implementation.  
 
 
Activity: Labour Market Partnership Work 
Goal: SouthGrow re-forms and leads a partnership to pursue next stage Labour Market work arising out of our 
previous Skills Gap Study. 
Target: Partner commitment is secured, budget formed, project identified, grant applied for and secured, and 
project initiated within the fiscal year.  
Progress:  Pivoted to deliver a Women’s Economic Recovery program approved by Board. Built program, 
applied for grant. Waiting on decisions. Did not get grant.  
Status: NOT COMPLETED 
Outcomes: We were unable to secure the funding needed to run the Women’s Economic recovery program. 
No one in our region got anything that they applied for as far as I am aware.  
 
***Activity: SAAEP Government Relations and Grid Modernization (New Work) 
Goal: SouthGrow and SAAEP Partners advance provincial conversation on need for unified action on Grid 
Modernization.   
Target: SAAEP Partners present to Standing Committee on Alberta’s Economic Future on Opportunities and 
Challenges and request MLA support and action on regulatory and legislative change.    
Progress:  Meetings with Ministers held, partnership secured from Energy Futures Lab, presentation to 
committee has been requested. Trying to wrangle partners to move forward fast. Energy Futures Lab now on 
board, ready to apply to present. We applied to present. Committee discussed and shuffled us to another 
standing committee. Request now being reviewed there.  
Status: CONTINUING  
Outcomes: Good partnerships have been built while advancing this file. Requests have been sitting with 
committees since November 2021. We are still intended to go and present.  
 
 


 
 


 
 


 


 


Don’t forget to email info@southgrow.com if you would like to get signed up for our economic development 
newsletter. This newsletter has been called ‘The Best Economic Development Newsletter in the West’ (mostly 
by us, but that doesn’t make it less true.) It comes packed with great resources for you and your people.  


 


 


 


southgrow.com 


Economic Development | Government Relations  


All content copyright © 1999 - 2018 SouthGrow Regional Initiative. All rights 


reserved. Corporate Access Number: 5111053608 


About SouthGrow Regional Initiate  


SouthGrow is an economic development alliance of twenty-six south central Alberta 


communities committed to working together to achieve prosperity for the region. 


Representing over 170,000 people, SouthGrow is committed to assisting 


communities, organizations, businesses, and people in the region to further their 


economic development goals and to maintain the high quality of life. 



mailto:info@southgrow.com






MINUTES OF THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY MEETING HELD APRIL 7, 2022, 
AT THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY BUILDING  
 
Board Members Present:    
Tom Nish – Cardston County    Cam Francis - Cardston County   
Steven Law – Village of Glenwood (zoom)  Sandy Lybbert - Village of Glenwood 
Paula Brown – Town of Cardston 
  
Others Present:  
Danny Melvin – Fire Chief        Suzanne Pierson – Secretary/Treasurer 
                               
Commenced at 5:05 p.m.  
 
Tom Nish in the chair.                                                     
 
Opening Prayer: Cam Francis 
  
AGENDA  
  
Cam Francis moved to approve the agenda.                                 Carried  
  
MINUTES  


Cam Francis moved to accept the minutes of the March 3, 2022; meeting as presented.                      Carried 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
  
Danny Melvin reported that the March Emergency Services statistics are as follows: 2 MVC’s, 2 Support, 1 
cancelled on route, 5 MFR’s, and 1 structure fire. 
 
Danny Melvin advised that the Authority helped with the fire on the Blood Reserve near where the Red 
Crow College used to be. The Authority will bill the Blood Tribe as per the contract. 
 
Danny Melvin received a request that on April 15, 2022, the Authority will send old equipment that is not 
being used to help Ukraine. 
 
Paula Brown arrived at 5:09 p.m. 
 
Danny Melvin advised that the Plains Energy presentation on April 14, 2022, will have 35 people attend. 
 
Danny Melvin reported that Parks Canada has requested staff from the Authority be there through the end 
of September. 
 
Danny Melvin advised that the AFFRCS radio system is up and running in Waterton. 







MINUTES CCES MEETING APRIL 7, 2022 
 


2 
 


 
Danny Melvin reported that the casino money will fully fund the Zodiac boat purchase and the motor from 
the old boat will be fitted to the new boat. The boat is to arrive on Monday and then training will begin. The 
old zodiac will be looked over and see what repairs can be done. 
 
Danny Melvin advised that he has not received a response from the Town of Magrath regarding someone 
being certified to perform inspections for their community. 
 
Danny Melvin reported that the fundraising rodeo was much longer than first anticipated. 
 
Danny Melvin advised that the deadline to apply to work in Waterton is April 22, 2022. 
 
Paula Brown moved to approve Danny Melvin’s report.                              Carried  
 
Paula Brown moved to go in-camera at 5:22 pm                                                     Carried 
 
Paula Brown moved to reconvene at 5:27 pm                         Carried 
 
Danny Melvin advised that he is working to get clearance to have inspections performed for the Villages 
under the Authorities umbrella. 
 
ADJOURNMENT  


Cam Francis moved to adjourn.                                       Carried  


Adjournment at 5:29 p.m. 


Next board meeting is scheduled for Thursday, May 5, 2022, at 5:15 p.m. at the Cardston County Emergency 
Services Building.    


  


              
Chairman   





		MINUTES OF THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY MEETING HELD APRIL 7, 2022, AT THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY BUILDING

		MINUTES

		NEW BUSINESS

		ADJOURNMENT






MINUTES OF THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY MEETING HELD MARCH 3, 2022, 
AT THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY BUILDING  
 
Board Members Present:    
Mike Nish – Village of Hill Spring (zoom)   Paula Brown – Town of Cardston  
Tom Nish – Cardston County (zoom)   Cam Francis - Cardston County   
Steven Law – Village of Glenwood (zoom)  
  
Others Present:  
Danny Melvin – Fire Chief        Suzanne Pierson – Secretary/Treasurer 
                               
Commenced at 5:05 p.m.  
 
Paula Brown in the chair.                                                        
 
Opening Prayer: Mike Nish 
  
AGENDA  
  
Cam Francis moved to approve the agenda.                                Carried  
  
MINUTES  


The minutes of the February 3, 2022, meeting was discussed with Steven Law being added as attending by 
zoom. 


Cam Francis moved to accept the minutes of the February 3, 2022, meeting with the noted change.     
                    Carried 
 
BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES 
 
Danny Melvin advised that Parks Canada has set-up a zoom meeting for May 12, 2022 with the auxiliary 
power system project to be completed within a week or two.  Danny will have a tour once it is completed. 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
  
Danny Melvin reported that the February Emergency Services statistics are as follows: 1 grass fire, 2 MVC’s, 
1 false alarm, and 2 MFR’s. 
 
Danny Melvin advised that the Diamond Willow in Magrath requested an occupy load inspection and it has 
been finalized by the Authority.  Cam Francis advised that the Cardston County has spoken with the CAO of 
the Town of Magrath and nothing was decided regarding having someone present in Magrath to perform 
the inspections for their community. 
 







MINUTES CCES MEETING MARCH 3, 2022 
 


2 
 


Danny Melvin presented the hydrant report to the board.  Danny will make sure that the rest of board not 
present will receive a copy of the needed changes and repairs to fire hydrants within the Town of Cardston. 
 
Danny Melvin advised that the Authority has been asked to participate in 2 rodeos.  The first rodeo is March 
26, 2022 and the Authority will not be charging as it is a fundraiser. The rodeo September 2-4, 2022 will be 
charged for the Authorities services. 
 
Danny Melvin reported that the engineering drawings are completed for the Fire Hall addition.  Danny will 
provide the information to the Town of Cardston to put the Fire Hall addition out for tender. 
 
Danny Melvin advised that the Zodiac boat is in need of being replaced.  The replacement cost is 
approximately $6,000.  The funds can come from casino fundraising or cost share with the Cardston County.  
Cam Francis will discuss it with his counsel regarding possible cost sharing. 
 
Danny Melvin reported that the AFRAX radio system will have their computer up and running in Waterton 
next week.  This will benefit all involved with assisting with emergencies in the Waterton area. 
 
Danny Melvin advised that Plains Energy will be coming April 14, 2022 and will be giving a presentation. 
 
Tom Nish moved to approve Danny Melvin’s report.                              Carried  
 
ADJOURNMENT  


Cam Francis moved to adjourn.                                       Carried  


Adjournment at 5:24 p.m. 


Next board meeting is scheduled for Thursday, April 7, 2022, at 5:00 p.m. at the Cardston County 
Emergency Services Building.    


  


              
Chairman   





		MINUTES OF THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY MEETING HELD MARCH 3, 2022, AT THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY BUILDING

		MINUTES

		NEW BUSINESS

		ADJOURNMENT



